SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

2685.

PETHES ÁKOS

A támasztó és mozgató szervrendszer működésének fiziológiája című program

> Programvezető: Dr. Szendrői Miklós, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Kiss Rita, egyetemi tanár

THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT EXPOSURES OF KNEE ARTHROPLASTY ON STEPPING PARAMETERS, VARIABILITY OF GAIT DURING STEPPING AND DYNAMIC STABILITY IN THE EARLY POSTOPERATIVE PERIOD

PhD thesis

Ákos Pethes

Rácz Károly Clinical Studies Doctoral School

Semmelweis University



Supervisor:

Official Supervisor reviewers:

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Members of the Complex Examination Committee:



Rita M. Kiss, D.Sc István Böröcz, MD, Ph.D Tamás Terebessy, MD, Ph.D Ákos Zsembery, Ph.D Zsolt Vendégh, Ph.D Gergely Holnapy, Ph.D

Budapest 2022

Table of Contents

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Choice of topic
1.2. Literature review
2. OBJECTIVES
2.1. Aims
2.2. Materials and Methods
3. RESULTS
3.1. Kinematic parameters characterizing knee motion during stepping
3.2. Examination of the regularity of gait during stepping
3.4. Results of the ultrasound-based provocation (abrupt change of direction) test 38
4. DISCUSSION
4.1. Effect of exposure method of knee arthroplasty on kinematic parameters characterizing knee motion
4.2. Effect of exposure method of knee arthroplasty on stepping regularity
4.3. Effect of knee arthroplasty performed with different exposure methods on the dynamic balancing ability of the knee
5. CONCLUSIONS
6. SUMMARY
7. REFERENCES
8. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS65
8.1. PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE THESIS
8.2. OTHER PUBLICATIONS
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA = ANalysis Of VAriance: statistical method to find out if experiment results are significant, in other words testing groups to see if there is difference between them

BMI = Body Mass Index

CAS = Computer Assisted Surgery

CV = Coefficient of Variance

 \mathbf{D} = Lehr's damping ration

KL = Kellgren–Lawrence radiographic osteoarthritis grading system

KSS = Knee Society Score

MIS = Minimally Invasive Surgery

 $\mathbf{MP} = \mathbf{Medial Parapatellar}$

OA = Osteoarthrosis

OKS = Oxford Knee Score

 $\mathbf{QS} = \mathbf{Quadriceps-sparing}$

QOL = Quality of Life questionnaire

SF-36 = Short Form-36 (Quality of Life questionnaire)

TKR = Total Knee Replacement

VMO = m. Vastus Medialis Obliquus

WHO = World Health Organization

WOMAC = Western Ontario and MacMaster University (Quality of Life questionnaire)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Choice of topic

Articular cartilage damage in the knee (osteoarthritis; OA) is one of the most common musculoskeletal disorders worldwide, affecting 30-40% of the population over 65 years of age. It is the primary cause of disability and reduced mobility in the elderly and is a significant economic burden on society (*Skinner, 1984*). Other data suggest that 9% of men and 18% of women suffer from knee OA (*Davis, 1991*). Fall-related injuries are the primary cause of accidental deaths over 65 years (*Sterling, 2001*). Most of these falls occur during a change of location. (*Niino, 2000*). Each year, more than one-third of adults over 65 years of age fall at least once (*Kang, 2007*). The prevalence of knee OA increases with age, and because of the ageing of population the burdens of the disease grow at an increased rate. Knee OA not only causes pain but is also associated with limited mobility and deterioration in the quality of life (*Lee J, 2015*). These symptoms significantly limit the ability to get up from a chair, stand comfortably and walk on a flat surface or stairs (*Kaufmann, 2001*).

The number of total knee replacement (TKR) implantations is increasing year by year both in worldwide and in our country. After surgery, pains are significantly relieved, and the previously weakened skills and motor functions are partially or fully restored. In addition, timely surgical intervention and rapid rehabilitation improve the patient's self-care and ensure an eventual return to work, thereby reducing the financial burden on both the healthcare system and society. In addition, health care institutions in developed countries put an ever-increasing emphasis on assessing and monitoring the patient's condition in order to record the course of treatment, the effectiveness of surgical care, and rehabilitation. This is done using pain scales, quality of life questionnaires, and tests in daily clinical practice. One of the oldest questionnaires for pain assessment is the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS). Jointspecific questionnaires, recording certain body regions focusing on specific joints, are widely used to record the knee joint function. These include the American Knee Society Score (KSS) (Insall, 1989) or the Oxford Knee Score (OKS) (Dawson, 1998, 2010). When using the above methods, the objectivity of the status recording is unlikely to be reliable, in case of different investigators the reproducibility of the test is often questionable. A more accurate assessment of the condition can be obtained by using biomechanical methods and appropriately selected motion testing measurement systems, and by comparing the numerical data, changes in motion can also be statistically analyzed. In addition to static tests, motion testing analyzing systems are also suitable for recording dynamic deviations observed during motion, and the reproducibility of the motion test is also ensured. Biomechanical measurements are suitable to refine the severity classification of the disease and can record specific differences between individual patients. Then the data can be analyzed to tailor conservative treatment to improve musculoskeletal function and the surgical indications can be more exact. Human movement is influenced by a myriad of conditions, such as muscle function, posture, and the state of the motor control system. In healthy individuals, gait is a cyclical and symmetrical movement. It is insufficient to analyze gait patterns of patients when investigating the impact of degenerative joint abnormalities and the effect of implantation of lower limb endoprosthesis right after the operation. It is also necessary to define gait safety, as a reduction in gait safety may result in an increased risk of falls. The safety of walking is mainly determined by the regularity of gait and dynamic balancing ability. After TKR implantation, walking safety can be significantly improved, and walking ability can be almost fully restored to the age-appropriate level for the patient. It is important to select the right rehabilitation treatment. Close monitoring of functional improvement and appropriate therapeutic modification can lead to a successful and timely recovery. Knee osteoarthritis and TKR implantation significantly affect gait parameters, stability, and regularity of gait. In most cases, on a treadmill based gait analysis can only safely conducted at least three months after surgery. Thus, in the early postoperative period, gait parameters can only be tested using our stepping method. The primary objective of this study is to determine how TKRs implanted with different types of surgical exposure techniques affect kinematic parameters and two factors of gait safety, gait regularity and dynamic balance ability, in the postoperative period. Such biomechanical-based studies of the effect of TKR implantation in the early postoperative period are not yet available neither in the national and nor in the international literature. Motion testing is possible only while the patient is standing or stepping in the early postoperative period. The results obtained can be used to define the impact of joint endoprostheses implanted with different exposure techniques on gait more accurately, better understand specific compensatory mechanisms, design complex individualized preventive protocols and protocols for enabling faster rehabilitation as well as monitor the effectiveness of postoperative rehabilitation. Our work also aims to consider the benefits in the early stages of rehabilitation of a more precise prosthetic component

insertion solution, which requires a more extensive toolset and a slightly longer surgical time even after the training period, but less tissue damage due to less exploration.

1.2. Literature review

1.2.1. Total Knee Replacement (TKR)

Total knee arthroplasty aims to restore the function of the painful, degenerated, osteoarthritic knee joint that can no longer be treated conservatively and can provide stable, pain-free movement. Compared to the hip joint, to restore its function with a prosthesis the knee joint biomechanically is much more challenging. It is much more difficult to understand and imitate the actual kinematics of the knee joint. Understanding the much more complex motion in different types of arthroses (varus, valgus, stiff rheumatoid arthritis, posttraumatic) has allowed the development of increasingly sophisticated prosthetic systems to better mimic and resemble physiological knee function. Thus, these improved designs can lead to improved functional outcomes (Falez, 2016). Few areas have advanced more than the understanding of knee kinematics and knee arthroplasty in orthopedics. Surgical outcomes have shown an ever-increasing improvement in recent decades. Bejek, combining EMG examination with gait parameter studies, has shown that gait parameters measured during a one-year follow-up cycle following TKR implantation gradually approach those of a healthy control group. In cases where the patient's affected extremity was the dominant one, the other, intact extremity becomes dominant. However, as time passes, the operated extremity once again shows gait parameter values consistent with the dominant side extremity (Bejek 2009, 2011). The main pillars of development are computer-assisted navigation surgery, robotic surgery, and prostheses tailored for the patient. However, unfortunately, some of these operations are still unsuccessful, some patients continue to experience pain, and their mobility remains impaired. 20 % of patients are dissatisfied with the outcome of their knee replacement (Confalonieri, 2019). In some cases, additional surgery is performed, which at times still does not result in the desired improvement (Causero, 2017). Navigation, as most newly introduced technologies, has not yet proven to offer a significant advantage in knee replacement; nevertheless, more precise implant position due to a more accurate bone surface sculpting and better ligament balance both in flexion and extension may lead to longer implant life and overall greater patient satisfaction (Falez 2016). However, other researchers have found that computer-assisted implantation

offers no significant advantage in implant positioning, improvement in functional outcome, or increased subjective satisfaction (*Allen, 2014*). In addition, besides the not yet fully proven benefits, navigation surgery clearly takes longer and requires specialized and complex techniques, which may lead to additional complications (*Falez, 2016*). Also, studies by Bejek, cited earlier, show that rehabilitation after minimally invasive navigation-assisted knee replacements is significantly more advanced three months after surgery; however, this difference is no longer present six months after surgery (*Bejek, 2006, 2007, 2009, 2011*).

1.2.2. The balancing ability and its characterization

To maintain a balanced posture, i.e., maintaining the body's center of mass over its base of support, muscle tone adjustment in the antigravity muscles is under constant control, both at rest and during walking. In addition, information from somatosensory, visual, and vestibular receptors constantly modifies and coordinates posture (Szirmai, 2017). It is a process controlled by a dynamic feedback system, whereby a complex mechanism is used to record and track each movement, as well as to trigger and control coordinated muscle responses to ensure the ability to balance. The fundamental element of the ability to balance is proprioception, i.e., the ability to sense the parts of the body relative to one another. This means the conscious and unconscious perception of limb position in space, including the perception of joint position and movement. The central nervous system regulates the stabilization of the joint and the activation of the muscles around the joint, based on information sent by the somatosensory system (including the proprioceptive input signal), the balancing system, and the visual system. Knee proprioception is derived from the integration of afferent signals sent by muscles, tendons, articular capsules, ligaments, meniscal attachments, and skin receptors. The main sources of joint proprioception are muscle and joint receptors (Sharma, 1999). Rheumatological and orthopedic diseases can lead to static and dynamic changes in postural control. Reduced stability following arthrosis or ligament injury can lead to a reduction in the ability to balance the lower limb (Missaoui, 2008; Quagliarella, 2011). Freeman suggested (Freeman, 1965) that any effect on this complex regulation, such as wear of the articular surfaces, narrowing of the range of motion, or weakening of muscle strength, significantly affects the proprioceptive system. These effects also impact coordinated movement and the ability to maintain balance. The question is whether impaired proprioception increases the risk of knee osteoarthritis and whether it accelerates the progression of the disease (Sharma, 1999). We distinguish between static and dynamic balancing. The static balancing ability is based on the static reflex, which balances the body at rest, while the kinetic reflex, which is required for dynamic balancing, balances the body in motion. Dynamic balancing includes kinesthesia (muscle sensation, deep sensation), which is a type of sensation originating from proprioceptors in the muscles (tendons, fascia, articular capsules and ligaments). Proprioceptive sense plays a crucial role, providing continuous information about the position and movement of the limbs, torso, and head, and the current state and tension of muscles, tendons, and joints, in all types of movements including walking. (Szirmai, 2017). Previous research has made it clear that both static and dynamic balancing abilities are significantly affected by age (Skinner, 1984; Prieto, 1996; Pai, 1997; Vandervoort, 2002; Vereeck, 2008; Boyer, 2019) and sex of the person being tested (Masui, 2005; Boyer 2019). Proprioceptive ability, which declines with age, can be improved by regular exercise (e.g., tai chi chuan) (Wong, 2001), which can help reduce the risk of falls (Petrella, 1997). Six months after knee joint endoprosthesis implantation, patients' joint position sense is the same as that of healthy individuals of similar age (Ischii, 1997). This is probably because the condition of the ligaments and muscles around the joint has a much more significant influence on joint position sense than the condition of the articular surface (Ischii, 1997). On days 17-20 after knee joint endoprosthesis implantation, the area traversed by the center of pressure and its anteriorposterior and lateral movements were still significantly greater than those of the control group (Gauchard, 2010). By the 6th week after surgery, the standing stability values improve significantly but are still below those of the control group (Gauchard, 2010; Dominguez-Navarro, 2018). Six months after knee replacement, balance significantly improves compared to preoperatively when standing on an unstable platform on two legs (Swanik, 2004) and standing on a stable platform on both one leg and two legs (Isaac, 2007). By the 6th month after the surgery, the postural sway by the center of pressure measured while standing on the affected leg is significantly reduced compared to before the surgery, while the length of the trajectory is not significantly reduced (Isaac, 2007). Postural stability parameters (length of the center of pressure trajectory, area traversed by the center of pressure) measured while standing on both legs are significantly improved in the later postoperative period but are also significantly worse than those of the control group one year after surgery (Quagliarella, 2011).

When walking in everyday life, unexpected stumbles often occur. A particularly complex mechanism is needed to regain balance (*Winter*,1995); therefore, testing the balancing response to a sudden change is more important than testing balance while standing (*Kiss*, 2011). Loss of balance is strongly associated with the likelihood of falling (*Robbins*, 1989). The dynamic balancing ability can be well modeled by the ultrasound-based sudden change of direction test, as the dynamic balancing ability can be modeled by the Lehr damping ratio calculated from the measured data (*Kiss*, 2011; *Kiss*, 2012). Dynamic balancing ability in older adults is influenced by lateral dominance, age, and sex of the person tested (*Kiss*, 2011; *Kiss*, 2012).

1.2.3. The gait pattern and its characterization

Gait is a cyclical and symmetrical coordinated movement that occurs without effort. During gait, the whole body moves in a continuous, progressive motion due to the alternating movements of the lower limbs while maintaining the stability of the standing position. Each step sequence involves multiple interactions of the two multisegmented lower limbs and the trunk. The gait is cyclical due to the repetition of each phase, while its symmetry is due to the coordinated, intermittent movement of the two limbs in relation to each other. Gait is determined by the movements of the lower limbs but is also influenced by the coordination of the movements of the head, trunk, and upper limbs (*Mészáros, 2006*). The most widely used reproducible gait analysis methods for recording gait parameters are optical-based (video or infrared-based), electromagnetic-based, and ultrasound-based motion analysis systems (*Kiss, 2007*). One of the bases of gait analysis is the gait cycle, which is the total period of movement of a limb, i.e., the period between two identical positions of the same limb, defined as the period from the initial contact with the ground, in a healthy person, from the heel strike to the next contact of the same foot with the ground (*Barton, 1997*; *Ángyán, 2005*).

Kinematic parameters can be used to characterize the gait pattern: temporal (step duration, cycle duration, stance phase duration, swing phase duration, double stance phase duration) and spatial (step length, step cycle length, step width). Angular parameters are another set of often used kinematic parameters employed to characterize joint movements. The gait pattern can be objectively characterized by temporal, spatial, and angular parameters derived from gait analysis. Older women have higher rates of reduced mobility, which may be caused

by gender-specific differences in gait and muscle function. In older, less active people, walking at a self-selected gait speed becomes unsteady, with a risk of falling, mainly due to weakness of the quadriceps muscles. Regular physical activity can reduce the adverse consequences of knee joint degeneration (Boyer, 2019; Hafer, 2019ab). Several investigators have presented the parameters describing the altered gait pattern of patients with knee joint wear: patients with lower limb, especially knee joint, osteoarthritis, have longer gait cycles, lower cadence, shorter step length, and slower speed compared with healthy subjects of the same age (Sun J, 2017; Naili JE, 2019). As a consequence of the degenerative knee joint abnormalities, the self-selected gait speed, step frequency, and the affected side stride length and stance phase duration decrease, while step width increases, compared to the values of the control group of the same age. The range of motion of the joint affected by OA is reduced (the range of motion of the knee joint angle on the affected side is reduced), but the range of motion of the opposite hip and knee joint angle is increased due to compensatory movements. These results confirmed that the gait of patients with knee joint wear is not symmetric (Kaufmann, 2001; Bejek, 2006, 2007, 2009, 2011; Newell, 2007, 2008; Jenkyn, 2007; Astephen, 2008; Heiden, 2009; Hunt, 2010; Creaby, 2012; Lee, 2013; Mills, 2013a,b; Kiss, 2011,2012; Tawy, 2018; Biggs, 2019 a,b; Mine, 2019; Kobsar, 2019). The gait of patients with knee osteoarthritis adapts to reduce pain. The quadriceps muscles that influence knee movement are less active, and the dynamic load during gait is reduced. Furthermore, obesity, an increased risk factor for knee OA, compels patients to modify their gait to reduce joint stress (Kaufmann, 2001). Proprioception (the ability to sense changes in joint position) declines in both knees, even for patients with unicondylar OA affecting only one knee. No difference was found between the proprioception parameters of the two knees, despite the different extent of cartilage wear. It is a noteworthy observation that the loss of proprioception is independent of the degree of OA, and therefore Koralewicz et al. recommend comparing the changes after TKR implantation with the untreated contralateral knee instead of with same-age healthy controls (Sharma 1997; Koralewicz 2000). Other researchers have also found that in patients with knee joint wear, gait speed significantly affects spatial and temporal parameters, as well as knee joint and hip joint angle range of motion (Bejek, 2006; Möckel, 2003). Compensation also involves increased movements of the pelvis (Bejek, 2006).

Previous research has also analyzed the effect of TKR on gait patterns (Ishii 1997; Walsh, 1998; Berth, 2002; Ouellet, 2002; Smith AJ, 2004; Bejek, 2006, 2007, 2009, , 2011; McClelland, 2007, 2009, 2011, 2017; Mandeville; 2008 Yakhdani, 2010; Hatfield, 2011, Orishimo 2011; Abbasi-Bafghi 2012; Kiss, 2012; Sosdian, 2014; Lee 2015; Baczkowicz 2018; Biggs, 2019 a,b; Agarwal, 2019). According to Skinner, the proprioceptive deficit caused by OA cannot be corrected by surgery (Skinner, 1984). In contrast, Barrett argues that by restoring the joint alignment and "joint space height" with the collateral structures retightened, postoperative joint position sense is improved. Accurate adjustment of soft tissue balance (in terms of posterior cruciate ligament and collateral ligament tension) in both flexion and extension is essential for proper postoperative knee joint proprioception. (Barrett, 1991; Moutzouri, 2016). Isaac et al. also found a definitive improvement in static and dynamic proprioception after TKR (Isaac, 2007). The spatial parameters of gait gradually improve beginning postoperative week six; however, they do not reach the values of the healthy control group using either surgical approach. (McAndrew, 2010, 2011). Significantly lower gait speeds, longer dual stance phase durations, and shorter step lengths are observed at this time. Testing gait speed is difficult, and the often-used questionnaire method is inaccurate because patients overestimate their own performance as pain decreases. Objective measurement of gait speed is problematic due to differences in the environment, the measurement methodology, and instructions given to the subjects (McAndrew, 2010, 2011; Abbasi, 2012). A further difficulty is that 80% of patients with knee OA also have at least one type of comorbidity, so the homogeneity of the groups is questionable (Abbasi, 2012). Studies on function conducted more than two decades earlier report very poor functional outcomes even after the postoperative 12th month despite significant pain reduction (Walsh, 1998). Following the currently used TKR, the self-selected comfortable walking speed, cadence, step width, and stride length approximate but do not reach the values of the control group (Berth, 2002; Lee, 2015). The improvement is more specific to the adjacent hip and ankle joint function (Moutzouri, 2016; Biggs, 2019). Despite these improvements, the joint movements on the affected side are restricted. Even after a clinically well-functioning TKR, the asymmetry between the two knees is visible to the naked eye at self-selected gait speed. This is presumably due to a pain avoidance strategy, those adaptive or compensatory mechanisms that persist after surgery and that significantly affect and load the healthy, large contralateral lower limb joints. In previous publications of our research group (Bejek, 2006), we have shown that after TKR, the coordination of the surrounding muscles and the movement of the joints of the contralateral limb are significantly altered. During walking, the movement abnormalities caused by the damaged joint are compensated by increased flexibility in the collateral joints and pelvis. The patients' painful antalgic gait, reduced range of motion, axial deformity, and possible joint instability can lead to asymmetric movement. This is clearly supported by gait studies (Walsh, 1998; Ouellet, 2002; McClelland, 2009; Hatfield, 2011; Lee, 2015; Biggs, 2019). In addition to the angular differences, differences in kinetic parameters can be observed when comparing the prosthetic side with the normal side, which can be explained by the presence of compensatory mechanisms that have developed prior to surgery. After TKR, the patient's ability to walk can improve significantly, and over time the patient's average walking ability can be almost fully restored to age-appropriate levels (*Bejek*, 2009, 2011). An interesting observation on gait speed is that after 12 months, improvement may stop and is followed by decline again due to the increasing impact of comorbidities (Abbasi, 2012). According to Bejek's observations, the measured gait parameters gradually approach those of the healthy control group over a one-year follow-up cycle. If the affected side was previously the dominant side limb of the patient, the role of the affected side is taken over by the intact opposite limb. However, this will change over time, and after a while, the operated limb will again show the gait parameters of the dominant limb (Bejek, 2009, 2011). However, gait tests can only be used beginning three months after surgery, so there is little quantitative information available on the first few weeks after surgery to assess the earliest possible rehabilitation. In the early postoperative period, it is particularly important to check the patient's balance while walking; therefore, it is essential to perform the tests not only on a fixed, stable but also on a non-fixed plate. R. M. Kiss developed a complex measurement method that allowed the determination of the most important biomechanical parameters of gait while observing the patient stepping on a fixed and a non-fixed plate. The great advantage of this method is that patients can be examined in the early postoperative period (Kiss, 2007 a,b). Using a ZEBRIS gait tester, Bejek found that gait speed can affect gait parameters. By examining gait at different speeds, he found that if the gait test is performed at the same speed between 2-5 km/h, the ZEBRIS can provide reproducible, traceable, and reliable measurements of gait parameters (Bejek, 2009). Our previous study demonstrated that the effect of TKR performed using the two different types of surgical techniques is not the same on gait characteristics (spatial, temporal, and angular) in the early postoperative period. The study results clearly demonstrated that the different surgical techniques, which also differ in terms of invasiveness, significantly affect the kinematic characteristics of stepping (the variability of knee motion and the angular parameters of pelvis and shoulder joint tilt and rotation) (*Pethes, 2014*). The stepping parameters of patients who underwent surgery using navigation with less invasive techniques improved more quickly than patients who underwent conventional surgery; however, neither reached the values of the control (*Pethes, 2014*).

1.2.4. Characterization of the variability of the gait

The kinematic characteristics of the gait vary with each step, even under the same external conditions. The constant variation of the parameters determines the gait variability. The fluctuation of the gait parameters determines the variability of the gait: the variance of the spatial, temporal, and angular parameters of the step cycle (Dingwell, 2006; Kang, 2008 a, b; Owings, 2003, 2004; Dubost, 2006; Hollman, 2007 a,b; Jordan, 2007; Kiss, 2012). If the spatial and temporal variables are nearly the same for each step, and the phases of the gait repeat exactly, we speak of harmonious walking (Mészáros, 2006). According to Owings and Grabiner, at least 400 step cycles are required to calculate gait variability because the spatial and temporal variance does not change significantly after this number of step cycles. A lower count may produce erroneous results (Owings, 2003). The tests were conducted both at a self-selected comfortable speed and at a slower or faster speed of walking than comfortable. They found that similarly to healthy young people, the temporal and spatial variance and relative variance were significantly influenced by the walking speed of healthy older people (Kerrigan, 2001; Shkuratova, 2004; Dubost, 2006; Jordan 2007, England, 2007; Beauchet, 2007, 2009; Jordan, 2007; Kang, 2008ab; Kiss, 2012). Owings' research shows that gait speed does not affect gait variability. Gait variability can be tested simply on the normal ground at a self-selected speed (Hollman, 2007) or on a treadmill at a self-selected or slower or faster speed (Owings, 2003, 2004; England, 2007; Kang, 2008 a, b). Fall-related injuries in older people are one of the biggest healthcare challenges. An increase in gait variability is proportional to an increase in the risk of falling. (Hausdorff, 1997, 2001; Maki, 1997; Kang, 2007). Older adults walk more slowly, and their gait variability exceeds that of younger adults. By reducing the walking speed, young people's gait variability also increases. However, it is unclear whether the more irregular gait

observed in older people is due to age-related neuromuscular decline (Kang, 2008 a, b), weakened muscle strength (DeVita, 2000), or reduced mobility (Kerrigan, 2001). Step width variability is greater in older people (over 65) than in younger people (Owings, 2003, 2004, Kang, 2007, 2008). It was previously thought that by reducing gait speed (as when healthy individuals slow down before to move across the icy surface), gait stability could be increased (Winter, 1990, 1995). Paradoxically, however, slower walking speeds result in greater variability of the walking parameters, leading to a loss of stability (Kerrigan, 2001; Kiss, 2010). It is unclear whether the reduced gait speed of elderly patients with reduced joint range of motion and kinetics is the cause or the effect of these biomechanical changes (Dingwell, 2006). Understanding how walking speed affects dynamic stability can help to resolve this paradox. Stability can be defined as the capacity of the locomotor system to respond to perturbations (Dingwell, 2006). A reduction in gait regularity, or, in other words, increased variability, can be a good predictor of the likelihood of subsequent falls (Maki, 1997; Hausdorff, 2001 a, b). These measurements do not accurately indicate the response of the neuromuscular system to disturbances, stumbles, or slips. Thus, stability cannot be measured accurately. It has been observed that various neurological diseases (e.g., Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, dementia) affect step length and step width as well as step duration in parallel with deterioration (Blin, 1990; Schaafsma, 2003; Hausdorff, 2005; Herman, 2005). However, other studies have also shown that gait variability, even in healthy individuals, depends on the current psychological and cardiovascular state (Hausdorff, 1994, 2005) and the testing environment (Hollman, 2006). Studies have confirmed that age also significantly affects gait variability (Kang, 2008 a, b). When comparing the variability of gait parameters in healthy young and healthy elderly individuals, researchers observed that gait becomes less adaptable to changing conditions with age due to deteriorating balance and a relative lack of sufficient muscle strength to step over obstacles (Buzzi, 2003; Kang, 2008 a, b). Dingwell, therefore, suggests adjusting the walking surface, i.e., using "perturbations" that mimic an irregular surface, to better model the risk of falls in the elderly while walking (Dingwell, 2007). Younger adults were able to increase their dynamic stability by reducing their walking speed, but the same could not be said for older adults, who typically walk more slowly, and for whom a reduction in walking speed does not reduce the risk of falling. This also explains the more frequent falls in older age. (Kang, 2008 a, b) To increase local dynamic stability, the neuromuscular system that controls gait can adapt to a slightly irregular gait during slower gait (*Dingwell, 2004; Kang, 2008a*), but the relationship to this in terms of whole-body stability is not yet clear.

2. OBJECTIVES

2.1. Aims

The aim of the study is to compare and analyze the kinematic parameters of stepping, variability of stepping, and balancing ability after a sudden change of direction in patients suffering from unilateral knee joint destruction who underwent knee replacement implantation using two different surgical methods (conventional and minimally invasive computer-assisted navigation). An internationally recognized ultrasound-based motion testing method, previously developed by our research group, has made it possible to quantitatively describe the kinematic parameters of stepping, characterize stepping regularity (or, in other words, the opposite of variability) and dynamic balancing ability (ability to overcome unexpected obstacles). Based on the assessment of the research summarized in the previous chapter, we established the following objectives for our own research:

1. to determine the kinematic parameters of patients with unilateral advanced cartilage damage - knee OA - awaiting TKR; to describe quantitatively how these parameters change with different surgical techniques from the preoperative period until the end of the postoperative 3rd month in a longitudinal study; and, to compare the values thus obtained with those of healthy controls of similar age with no musculoskeletal complaints on a fixed plate,

2. to determine the kinematic parameters of patients with unilateral advanced cartilage damage - knee OA - awaiting TKR; to describe quantitatively how these parameters change with different surgical techniques from the preoperative period until the end of the postoperative 3rd month in a longitudinal study; and, to compare the values thus obtained with those of healthy controls of similar age with no musculoskeletal complaints on a non-fixed, moving plate,

3. to measure the variability of stepping parameters (knee motion, and the regularity of angular pelvic and shoulder joint tilt and rotation) in patients with unilateral advanced cartilage damage - knee OA - awaiting TKR on a fixed plate; to compare the variability of the preoperatively-measured stepping parameters with the parameters measured in the early postoperative period in the same patients; and to determine the extent to which the two

15

different surgical techniques, conventional and minimally invasive, affect stepping variability, and to compare the longitudinally followed changes in stepping variability with those of healthy age-matched controls with no musculoskeletal complaints,

4. to measure the variability of stepping parameters (knee motion, and the regularity of angular pelvic and shoulder joint tilt and rotation) in patients with unilateral advanced cartilage damage - knee OA - awaiting TKR on a non-fixed, moving plate; to compare the variability of the preoperatively-measured stepping parameters with the parameters measured in the early postoperative period in the same patients; and to determine the extent to which the two different surgical techniques, conventional and minimally invasive, affect stepping variability, and to compare the longitudinally followed changes in stepping variability with those of healthy age-matched controls with no musculoskeletal complaints,

5. To determine the extent to which different surgical techniques affect Lehr's damping ratio -- an indication of dynamic balancing ability that is closely related to the incidence of falls in old age as measured by the ultrasound-based sudden change of direction test (hereafter referred to as the provocation test) - in the preoperative and the first three months of the postoperative period; and to compare provocation test scores taken at different times during the perioperative period with the mean of Lehr's damping ratio of the healthy controls of similar age with no musculoskeletal complaints.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Participants

The control group (Group I) consisted of five voluntary women and men (age: 70.4 ± 6.22 years, body mass: 71.6 ± 15.43 kg, body height: $168.8 \text{ cm}\pm11.71 \text{ cm}$) (Table 1). These people/subjects had no history of OA of the knee or hip joints, spinal deformities or clinical history of other musculosceletal disorders affecting their lower limb or lumbar spine (e.g. knee instability or major lower extremity surgery). These individuals had normal strength, full range of motion of the lower extremities and had no neurological alterations (e.g. Parkinson's, dementia, vertigo or cerebral apoplexy, etc.) or vestibular disorders that may influence the balance. In order to perform the biomechanical tests safely, patients with uncontrolled or not properly maintained cardiovascular diseases (hypertension, unstable angina) or patients needing greater than ± 5.0 dioptres correction of the vision were excluded.

Twenty patients with severe knee OA associated with pain and limited range of motion were included in our study from the waiting list for TKR who had already no or minimal response to conservative treatment. Each patient had less than 15° varus and less than 10° valgus axis deviation and had less than 15° flexion contracture. Each patient had unilateral symptoms (only one knee was affected). The exclusion criteria included any significant clinical history of lesion or surgery affecting the lower limbs or the lumbar spine. In order to perform our measurements successfully, each patient included was ambulatory, could walk without applying any assisting devices and had all the exclusion criteria that we already used in the case of the control group (Group I).

The severity of OA of the knee joint was determined by the Kellgren and Lawrence radiographic index (KL) (*Kellgren, 1957*) with the support of an expert in radiology (Dr. Köllő Katalin). The radiographic index was grade 4 in 16 patients and grade 3 in 4 patients. Patients underwent a physical examination and for each patient quality of life tests were also filled in before biomechanical tests. We used the functional test (0-100 point-scale) introduced by Insall (Knee Society Score, 1989) (*Ranawat, 1973; Insall, 1989*), the SF-36 questionnaire with its 36 questions about quality of life (0-100 points) (*Hill, 1999*) and the WOMAC-scale which is specific in joint deterioration (0-96 points) (*Bellamy, 1995*).

The 20 patients, who had no significant differences in antropometry, functional tests and in the grade of OA, were randomly and equally allocated into two groups based on the different surgical technique (Groups II and III).

Group II (conventional method: total anterior exposure with medial parapatellar incision) consisted of five men and five women (age: 66.6 ± 7.45 years, body mass: 84.9 ± 13.44 kg, body height: 168.9 ± 10.25 cm).

Group III (minimal invasive technique: quad-sparing or mini-midvastus incision depending on the anatomical situation, with computer-assisted navigation) consisted of eight women and two men (age: 72.0±6.04 years, body mass: 72.3±12.56 kg, body height: 160.3±8.60 cm). All patients underwent TKR performed at the Orthopaedic Clinic of Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary. Computer-assisted surgery (CAS) was performed by the Stryker–Leibinger imageless navigation system.

In both patient groups, full weight bearing was started on the third postoperative day, and all patients were discharged within two weeks after surgery. Thus, all subjects had standard preand postoperative management (anaesthesia, pain management, physical therapy protocols).

17

Each subject examined was informed about the risks and benefits of the study and given the opportunity to withdraw from the study at any time. All patients gave their informed consent prior to the study. Patients underwent motion analysis before surgery as well as two, six and 12 weeks after TKR. Before performing the biomechanical tests each patient's physical status was invariably recorded by quality of life questionnaires and functional tests. The study was authorized by the National Science and Research Ethics Committee (184/2007).

2.2.2 Surgical exposures

2.2.2.1 Conventional exposure

In conventional exposure with the knee in a flexed position, a central straight cut is made at 2 cm from the patella base proximally, proceeding distally, as far as tibial tuberosity. It is recommended to finish the cut distally at 0.5-1 cm from the medial part of the tibial tuberosity in order to avoid harming the patellar tendon adhesion. The length of skin incision is dependent on the size of the knee and the patient's obesity (BMI). In vertical direction, cut is made as far as the fascia of the extensor musculature. There also exists a less recommendable medial patellar skin incision (*Sanna, 2013*) which leads to more vascular damage and may even cause the necrosis of lateral skin flap (*Sanna, 2013*). Standard arthrotomy of the joint with medial patellar incision in the flexed knee (*Insall, 1971; Ranawat, 1989; Sanna, 2013; Lotke 2019*): the surgeon begins by cutting the quadriceps tendon longitudinally up to a point 1 cm from the vastus medialis obliquus (VMO), proceeding distally, cutting the medial patellofemoral ligament and medial capsule 5 mm from the medial border of the patella. Reaching the medial borders of the patellar tendon, the incision is guided distally, parallel to the patellar tendon, as far as the tibial tuberosity.

2.2.2.2 Tissue-sparing arthrotomies

Some authors (*Hofmann, 1991, Sanna, 2013*) have recently been led to the use less invasive arthrotomies; they assume that a reduction in the length of the surgical incision and of soft tissue damage will mean a better outcome in aesthetic and surgical terms, as well as in terms of pain and functional recovery. In particular, these approaches are proposed in order to avoid violation of the extensor apparatus and to keep it as intact as possible. The most commonly used are the subvastus approach, the midvastus approach and the trivector approach (*Sanna, 2013*).

The subvastus approach was first described in literature by Erkes in 1929 (Erkes, 1929). This approach was taken up again by Bechtol (Bechtol, 1976) in 1976 and by Hofmann in 1991 (Hofmann, 1991). Isolation of the extensor apparatus and the VMO: the medial border of the VMO is identified and, by means of blunt dissection, detached from the intermuscular septum for approximately 10 cm proximally to the adductor tubercle. This process poses no risk to the descending genicular artery and the saphenous nerve. Hofmann advised against using this approach in obese individuals weighing over 90 kg, especially if they also have a short femur or patella alta, on account of the difficulties that, in these conditions, may be encountered in displacing the extensor mechanism. The procedure is also relatively contraindicated in subjects requiring revision surgery and in the presence of a stiff knee with a less than 50° range of motion (Hofmann, 1991). Most surgical operations can be performed well with the subvastus approach, and some studies suggest that compared to conventional exposure, the subvastus approach is associated with less preoperative blood loss, less postoperative pain and faster recovery of quadriceps strength (Cila, 2002). Potential drawbacks may include less good visibility, the formation of a postoperative hematoma below the VMO, excessive stretching of the fibers of the VMO during displacement of the patella and difficulty increasing the exposure in situations in which this is necessary. The midvastus approach was first described by Engh et al., in 1997 as a compromise between the conventional medial parapatellar (MP) and the subvastus approaches (Engh, 1997; Sanna, 2013). The advent of navigation enabled the creation of the mini-midvastus approach (MIS): Straight skin incision over the medial third of the patella from 2 cm proximal to the patella, and then proceeding distally up to the level of the tibial tuberosity. In the next deeper layer, the incision is continued around the medial border of the patella and distally to the level of the tibial tuberosity. The patella is displaced laterally but is not everted in flexion. Knee flexion and extension is necessary to move the soft-tissue surgical window for proximal or distal exposure. Hyperflexion of the knee is necessary only for insertion of the tibial component (Flören, 2008).

Based on the available data, the minimally invasive midvastus approach, which spares quadriceps femoris muscle, is a reasonable alternative to the standard medial parapatellar approach, and it results in lesser damage to the quads therefore rehabilitation may be quicker after the implantation of a prosthesis (*Craig, 2008; Wu, 2018*) (Figure 1 and 2).

19



Figure 1.

Exposure of the knee: A: Medial parapatellar, B: Midvastus C: Quad-sparing, D: Lateral parapatellar (*Photo: M. Karadsheh*)



Figure 2.

Minimal invasive midvastus exposure supported by navigation system (Photo: Bejek)

According to other authors' multicentre trials, the MIS approach offers no advantage and it is even associated with longer surgical time and greater blood loss. However, MIS-TKR in combination with computer navigation is safe in terms of implant axis and positioning *(Alcelik 2016; Feczkó, 2016)*.

In total knee arthroplasty (TKR), the Quadriceps-sparing (QS) approach is considered the most minimised exposure. Soft-tissue preparation starts only at the upper tip of the patella and ends at the tibial tuberosity. After opening of the joint, the patella is dislocated laterally without everting it. Exposure of the articular surface is ensured by the use of a so-called

"mobile window" method. QS calls for the use of special instruments (*Wohlrab*, 2009). The applicability of the approach is disputed since some authors' post-test results suggest that when compared to the conventional medial parapatellar approach (MP), after the surgical operation a higher proportion of prosthetic components may be affected by axial malalignment and component malposition (*Yuan*, 2017), and it does not offer any particular advantage over the mini-midvastus approach.

Evaluating the navigation method in terms of the insertion of prosthetic components, it can be established that the deviation from the optimal position decreases significantly and almost never occurs any component insertion that deviates from the acceptable axial alignment (*Chaucan, 2004; Stöckl, 2004; Seon, 2006; Hetaimish, 2012; Confalonieri, 2019*).

Long term survival of the prosthesis, regardless of the material and shape of the prosthesis, depends on the precise positioning. Sometimes this is not easy to achieve (e.g. due to severe varus-valgus misalignment or significant obesity). Suboptimal joint axis adjustment and the poor position of the components may lead to uneven load, soft tissue imbalance, later on to increased generation of abnormal wear products, early loosening of the prosthesis and forced prosthesis revision (*Bejek, 2007*).

2.2.3 Methods

2.2.3.1. Ultrasound-based motion analysis during stepping

The spatial coordinates of certain anatomical points during stepping were measured by a ZEBRIS CMS10 (Zebris, Isny, Germany) ultrasound-based motion analysis system on a PosturoMed[©] plate (Haider-Bioswing, Weiden, Germany) (*Boeer, 2010 ab; Kiss, 2011; Müller, 2004*). A PosturoMed[©] (Haider-Bioswing GmbH, Weiden, Germany) device is widespread and routinely used in the practice of neurology, sportmedicine and orthopaedic rehabilitation because dynamic stability can be developed with stepping on a moving platform (*Müller, 2004*). This has a rigid platform (12 kg, 60 cm × 60 cm) connected to a rigid frame by eight 15 cm steel springs of identical strength (Figure 3). The size and the design of the plate permit the measurement of kinematical parameters of stepping on a fixed and a released (non-fixed, moving) platform, respectively (Figure 3) (*Kiss, 2009*).



Figure 3

Investigated anatomical points: a) Tibial tuberosity to test knee motion b) Anterior superior iliac spine and acromion scapulae in the shoulder girdle to test the motion of the upper

body (Photo: Kiss)

The movement of the rigid plate was regulated by eight springs permitting the plate to move freely in the horizontal plane. The plate can be fixed with a fastening unit, so the stepping can be examined with a motionless rigid ground as well (Figure 3). Before the measurement, ultrasound-based single markers were attached to record the motion of the designated anatomical points. The measuring head was positioned in front of the individual to be examined (Figures 3 and 4).



Figure 4

Investigated anatomical points: a. Tibial tuberosity to test knee motion b. Anterior superior iliac spine and acromion scapulae in the shoulder girdle to test the motion of the upper body (*Photo: Kiss*)

The WinPosture (Zebris, Isny, Germany) measurement control software calculated the spatial coordinates of the anatomical points from the propagation time of the ultrasound signals as recorded by the measurement system. The measurement frequency was 100 Hz. The intraobserver variation of the spatial position of anatomical points was less than one millimetre; their inter-observer variation was less than 1.5 mm. More details about the measuring method are summarised in the literature (*Kiss, 2009*).

Our aim was to perform the examinations using the simplest and cheapest devices and to prepare and execute them as fast as possible, considering the limited patience of the mostly elderly subjects with painful knee and limited range of motion. Further expectations were the standardisation and attaining reproducibility. Therefore, the locations of the active, single markers on the body had to be selected to exclude the possibility of displacement during measurement; the anatomical points had to be properly determinable and palpable through the skin. The active markers were fixed in place, using two-sided plaster tape, to the tibial tuberosity (Figure 4) in order to test the motion of the knee and to the anterior superior iliac

spine in the pelvis and scapular acromion in the shoulder girdle to test the motion of the trunk (Figure 4). These anatomical points are particularly adequate because there is relatively little motion of the skin over these osseous anatomical points during gait and other types of motion.

First the motion of the knee joint was measured both on fixed and non-fixed plate for 20 stepping cycles each. In the second part the motion of the trunk (motion of shoulder and pelvis) was measured.

2.2.3.3 The measurement of clinical parameters during stepping

From the three directional (x, y, z) spatial coordinates of the given anatomical points the following clinical parameters could be calculated:

- motion of the knee joint
- trunk-pelvis motion (rotation and tilting)
- shoulder motion (rotation and tilting)

It is worth performing the measurements not only on fixed but also on non-fixed plate, because the patients' balance control is very important during the early postoperative period (*Kiss, 200; Pethes, 2010*).

Calculated parameters

For each subject in all gait cycles the values the cadence were calculated from the vertical movement of knee, while the motion of the knee joint (r) was calculated from threedirectional (x,y,z) spatial coordinates of the tibial tuberosity (Equation 1, Figure 4) (*Kiss*, 2009, 2010; *Pethes*, 2014).

$$r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$$

Equation 1

From the trunk motion test (motion of pelvis and shoulder) the tilting and rotation of pelvis and shoulder could be calculated using the spatial coordinates of the anatomical points of the anterior superior iliac spine and scapular acromion (Figure 4) (*Kiss, 2009, 2010; Pethes, 2014*).

The obtained data were analysed using multi-variable ANOVA method, supplemented, if necessary, by a Tukey post-hoc test. As regards the controls, variables included laterality (dominant and non-dominant) and gender (male or female). In the patient group, variables included laterality (non-affected and affected), gender (male and female), testing time (preoperatively, and six and 12 weeks postoperatively) and type of operation technique (conventional and minimally invasive technique). Data were processed by SPSS 14 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL USA). Significance levels (p) were set at 0.05 in each case ($p \le 0.05$). (*Kiss, 2007; Pethes, 2008, 2014*)

2.2.3.4 Examination of the variability of stepping

The knee motion parameter (r) and the angular parameters (rotation and tilting of the shoulder and pelvis) changed constantly over time. After breaking down the parameters into cycles, the maximum and minimum values of the parameter can be defined for each cycle. If it is known for all gait cycles, then the mean, standard deviation and relative standard deviation of a given parameter for a given person can also be calculated from the variable defined for that person. The relative standard deviation thus calculated characterises the variability of the maximum and minimum values of a given characteristic, which is the joint angle, rather than that of the particular joint motion. To avoid this, for the spatial movement of the knee joint as well as for the tilting and rotation of the pelvis and shoulder girdle, all gait cycles of all subjects examined were normalised to 0-100% of cycles. For each subject, angular variables were calculated as all integer percent of the gait cycle. In the next step, for all gait cycles of the individual subject, the mean [*Mean (i)*] and standard deviation [*SD (i)*] were calculated from the characteristic determined at the i-th whole gait cycle percent. Calculation of the mean coefficient value (*MeanCV*) characterising the variability of the total joint motion is presented in equation 2 (*Pethes, 2014*).

$$MeanCV(\%) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{10e} \frac{SD(i)}{Mean(i)}}{100} \times 100 \quad i \in \{0 - 100\% \text{ gait cycle}\}$$

Equation 2.

Where: *i* represents $\{0-100\%$ of the gait cycle $\}$ thus the mean coefficient of variation *(MeanCV)* represents the mean of all relative standard deviations determined in integer percent.

Statistical analysis

We had the relative standard deviation of the gait frequency for each subject tested as well as value of the mean coefficient of variation (*MeanCV*) pertaining to the spatial motion of the knee joint as well as to the tilting and rotation of the pelvis and shoulder girdle. For the groups of subjects (healthy elderly people; patients operated on with conventional surgical technique and minimally invasive technique), the mean and standard deviation were calculated from the values of the parameters (determined as above) that characterise the variability of the subjects' stepping.

The data obtained were analysed using the bivariate ANOVA method, while for the purpose of the necessary post-hoc testing the Tukey method was used. The laterality of the lower limb (dominant and non-dominant) was used as the variable for the healthy group, while for the patient group the time of testing (preoperative, 6 and 12 weeks after surgery) and laterality (affected and non-affected) were used as variables. Data were processed with the SPSS 14 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL USA). Deviation is deemed significant if $p \le 0.05$. (*Kiss, 2007; Pethes, 2011*).

2.2.3.5 Measurement of dynamic stability using a sudden perturbation

The measurements of balancing ability in response to sudden unidirectional perturbation were also performed in the Biomechanical Lab at the Orthopaedic Clinic of Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary. The plate of the PosturoMed[©] (Haider-Bioswing GmbH, Weiden, Germany) device could be suspended by releasing the fastening unit, so it provides an instable platform for walking. The springs allow the rigid plate to move freely in the horizontal plane. Planar movement of the suspended rigid plate (bi-directional shift and rotation) can be regulated by the number of springs (4, 6 or 8). During our present test, the movement of the suspended rigid plate of the PosturoMed[©] (therapeutic device was regulated by four springs. In this set up, balancing for the subject was relatively easy, since the direction of the shift of the rigid plate in the horizontal plane coincided with the direction of the displacement. Under these conditions, the test can be safely conducted even within a couple of days immediately after a knee replacement surgery. After the spring-suspended rigid plate is displaced from its middle position, the plate can be fixed again with the help of a fixing-releasing unit belonging to the device (Figure 5)





Measurement arrangement of the provocation test, where the motion of the plate is detected by ultrasound ZEBRIS CMS-10 measurement system (ZEBRIS, Medizintechnik GmbH, Germany) using single markers fastened to the measuring plate (*Photo: Kiss 2010*)

Once the fixing device is released, the rigid plate intends to return to its original position, which models the sudden change of direction (Müller, 2004; Boeer, 2010; Kiss, 2011b). When there is no person standing on the rigid plate, the rigid plate performs undamped free oscillation (the damping effect of the internal friction can be ignored). The person standing on the plate set in motion loses their balance; this person can regain their balance by damping the moving plate. In this case, the rigid plate performs damped free oscillation and damping characterises the balancing ability of the subject. During the balancing process after the sudden change in direction, an arbitrary number of anatomical points could be recorded with an ultrasound-based motion analysis system. Preliminary tests have shown that in each test, the movements of the person tested are completely unique. In view of this, it makes sense to turn the question around: to what extent can the person tested dampen the movement of the oscillating plate, i.e. what damping coefficient does the balancing ability of the person tested represent? The aspect which makes raising this question also possible is that no displacement of any kind is allowed between the rigid plate and the foot, i.e. the contact is "ideal". If this question is raised, the movement of the rigid plate has to be recorded by a ZEBRIS CMS10 (Zebris Medizintechnik GmbH, Germany) ultrasound-based measuring system equipped with individual specific markers attached to the side of the rigid plate. The measuring methods were detailed by Kiss (*Kiss*, 2011b).

Calculated characteristics

In characterising dynamic balancing, the question was how the subject can damp the motion of the rigid plate set into oscillation by their balancing; therefore it is expedient to characterise the balancing ability exhibited after an abrupt change of direction with one oscillation parameter of the damped oscillation. Based on the differential equations 3. and 4. of the damped free oscillation, best suited for this is Lehr's damping ratio which is the ratio of the actual to the critical damping; its magnitude is equal to the total constant of the springs (c), at the total mass of the subject and that of the rigid plate (m), which are known and dependent on the actual damping (k).

$$\Lambda = \frac{1}{i} \ln \ln \frac{K_0}{K_i}$$

Equation 3

where K_0 is the amplitude at time $t = t_0$;

 K_i is the amplitude at time $t = t_i$; where *i* refers to the signal oscillation number (e.g. *i*=2, 3, 4,...,n for the 2nd, 3rd,... n-th oscillation)

Since the damping of the system corresponds to the balancing ability of the subject, the Lehr's damping number (D) is a suitable for characterising the balancing ability.

$$D [\%] = \frac{\Lambda}{\sqrt{\Lambda^2 + 4\pi^2}} * 100$$

Equation 4.

where $\pi = 3.14$;

 Λ is the logarithmic decrement

The value of Lehr's damping ratio can be between 0 and 1. If D = 0, there is no damping, undamped oscillation develops and the subject loses their balance. If D = I, damping is equal to the critical damping, no oscillation occurs, and the balancing ability is ideal. The higher the Lehr's damping ratio is, the better the actual damping is, i.e. the better the subject's balancing ability will be. In the discipline of science dealing with oscillations, the Lehr's damping number used for the characterisation of damped free oscillation is also suitable for characterising the balancing ability after an abrupt change of direction (*Kiss, 2011a,b*). It

can be deduced from the solution of the differential equations 3 and 4 of the damped free oscillation that that Lehr's damping ratio can be determined from the movement of the rigid plate (*Kiscelli*, 1997).

Statistical analysis

The Lehr's damping ratio was expressed as the mean and standard deviation. The uniformity of the standard deviations was assessed by the F-test. Differences between the groups were determined by two-sample t-test, while the difference between the two sides was analysed with one-sample, paired t-test. The obtained data were evaluated using a multi-variable ANOVA method. Significance levels were set at $p \le 0.05$. (*Pethes, 2015*).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Kinematic parameters characterising knee motion during stepping

For better clarity, the kinematic parameters are summarised in two tables (Tables 1 and 2).

In the case of unilateral knee arthrosis, compared to persons of similar age and the healthy other knee, the range of knee motion decreases on both the fixed and moving platform (Tables 1 and 2). The motion range of the "healthy side" also fails to reach the motion range of the age-matched control group, but the difference is not significant (p>0.09). Two weeks after surgery, compared to the preoperative value, the motion range of both knees decreases, so this tendency, independently of the exposure method, applies to the non-operated (relatively healthy) side as well. However, in the case of minimally invasive surgical exposure, the difference is significant only on the non-operated side, while in the case of conventional exposure, it is significant on the operated side as well ((p<0.04). At two weeks after surgery, in the case of conventional exposure, the motion of the knee in vertical direction (z-axis) is significantly smaller compared to both the preoperative status and the knee operated on with minimally invasive surgical exposure. In the case conventional exposure, the patient compensates for reduced vertical movement with increased lateral (x-direction) movement (Tables 1 and 2).

By the end of the third postoperative month, for both exposure methods, the motion of the knee joint on the operated side still lags behind that of the healthy knee, but this lag is mainly due to reduced back and forth (y-direction) motion. For the minimally invasive exposure, there is significant improvement experienced on both types of the plate, compared to the preoperative values ($p_{fix}<0.03$, $p_m<0.04$). In contrast, in the case of conventional exposure, the rate of improvement is significant only on the moving plate, compared to the preoperative values ($p_f<0.007$ és $p_m<0.03$) (Tables 1 and 2).

Table	1.	Kinematic	parameters	of ste	epping of	on fixed	plates
			1		11 0		1

Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group III. (Mini exposure) operated side					
Time		Non dominant	Preoperative	Postoperative w. 2	Postoperative w. 6	Postoperative w. 12		
Knee motion	x	16.72±11,07	29.21±25.46	18.25±11.43	21.98±14.01	15.53±13.39		
	у	210.1±53.33	115.13±52.49*†	106.03±71.42*	155.6±39.55*†	153.06±34.4*‡		
	Z	40.86±34.25	28.97±23.95	30.98±42.65	47.88±47.27†	38.47±29.5		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	216.34±58.08	124.99±56.74*†	114.66±79.47*	167.31±52.32†	160.19±40.56*‡		
Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group II. (Convent	tional exposure) operat	ed side			
	х	16.72±11.07	16.55±12.58	25.02±17.23	10.19±7.10†	16.62±11.01		
	у	210.1±53.33	122.6±76.28*	108.28±50.20*	116.28±63.02*	144.53±65.30*		
	Z	40.86±34.25	31.22±26.99	11.68±11.50	27.77±19.27	31.78±32.95		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	216.34±58.08	130.3±76.93*	112.92±51.15*†	121.21±63.71*	150.28±70.81*		
Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group III. (Mini ex	(kposure) non- operated	side			
Time		Dominant	Preoperative	Postoperative w. 2	Postoperative w. 6	Postoperative w. 12		
	х	18.66±20.27	26.14±19.18	23.78±18.66	35.3±20.37	12.41±12.95‡		
	у	204.72±42.6	151.75±79.87	104.28±26.06‡	194.58±59.09	166.25±61.25		
	z	37.86±34.54	25.58±21.05	30.07±21.7	57.16±49.88	32.86±19.05		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	211.95±45.45	157.94±80.86	113.08±31.07*‡	209.16±67.67	171.04±62.01		
Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group II. (Convent	tional exposure) non- o	perated side			
	X	18.66±20.27	18.77±16.79	15.9±20.17	24.22±16.11	21.18±22.73		
	у	204.72±42.6	132.93±60.19*	125.08±38.35*	123.13±61.09*	149.42±76.09		
	Z	37.86±34.54	31.8±23.47	32.08±33.66	21.63±24.94	35.7±40.06		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	211.95±45.45	139.3±63.54*	132.22±48.09*	129.52±63.10*	157.58±83.92		

Marking of significance: * compared with Gr I (healthy control), † compared with the other side, ‡ compared with the preoperative values

Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	ny) Group III. (Mini exposure) operated side					
Time		Non dominant	Preoperative	Postoperative w. 2	Postoperative w. 6	Postoperative w. 12		
Knee motion	x	16.23±9.67	27.27±14.5	38.54±24.5	24.55±1481	14.45±13.47‡		
	у	195.32±51.03	104.08±40.91*†	78.47±50.0*	133.48±60.11	123.24±35.22*†‡		
	Z	36.64±29.96	28.48±22.17	20.97±15.82	34.85±44.05	28.98±24.72		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	200.96±53.91	113.88±41.39*†	95.1±47.20*	143.56±67.84	129.77±36.8		
Parameters	•	Group I. (Healthy)	Group II. (Conver	ntional exposure) operate	ed side			
	х	16.23±9.67	25.55±12.10	13.6±8.41‡	15.53±9.51	23.37±10.77		
	у	195.32±51.03	110.71±63.99*	90.14±29.37*†	110.16±52.48*	125.28±52.18*‡		
	Z	36.64±29.96	25.62±23.93	18.62±25.87†‡	36.42±46.8	22.73±24.49		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	200.96±53.91	119.19±64.04*	94.82±34.42*†‡	117.06±41.54	131.63±52.91*‡		
Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group III. (Mini exposure) non-operated side					
Time		Non dominant	Preoperative	Postoperative w. 2	Postoperative w. 6	Postoperative w. 12		
	х	20.64±15.06	23.63±14.2	25.88±17.46	26.01±17.02	12.77±10.5		
	у	197.63±57.2	139.93±63.78	96.42±27.23*	166.4±68.12	140,42±60.4*		
	Z	32.95±30.99	22.15±20.05	20.71±12.83	45.77±34.29‡	34.28±27.95		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	203.51±59.43	144.18±65.59	103.08±30.76*	176.5±72.61	146.38±64.19		
Parameters		Group I. (Healthy)	Group II. (Conver	ntional exposure) operate	ed side			
	х	20.64±15.06	18.92±19.69	7.28±5.8	21.68±20.43	22.91±21.14		
	У	197.63±57.2	117.36±56.06*	126.14±39.42*	106.2±59.12*	130.85±59.2*		
	Z	32.95±30.99	32.16±20.37	30.26±23.7	30.63±28.45	22.49±24.02		
	$\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$	203.51±59.43	126.8±54.12*	130.86±42.95	114.74±64.61*	136.58±62.97*		

Table 2. Kinematic parameters of stepping on non-fixed plates

Marking of significance: * compared with Gr I (healthy control), † compared with the other side, ‡ compared with the preoperative values

Tilt of the pelvic girdle in patients suffering from knee osteoarthritis (Tables 3 and 4) is significantly increased (due to compensatory motion of the relatively intact hip joint) compared to the values of the healthy age-matched control group (p<0.007). For minimally invasive exposure, by the end of postoperative month 12, the rate of tilt significantly decreases compared to the preoperative value (p<0.03), but it is still considered significantly increased compared to the healthy control group (p<0.05) (Tables 3 and 4).

Parameters	Healthy	Mini exposu	ire			
Time		Preop	Postop w. 2	Postop w. 6	Postop. w. 12	
Tilting of shoulder	1.58±1.22	6.01±5.45	5.1±3.28	5.12±2.97	2.11±1.36‡	
Rotation of shoulder	7.29±3.04	5.35±2.16	6.48±3.16	6±3.64	5.82±3.69	
Tilting of pelvis	2.64±2.31	9.45±6.01	8.92±2.22*	7.64±2.76*‡	5.1±1.50*‡	
Rotation of pelvis	3.61±2.21	4.78±2.41	5.14±3.45	3.44±1.85	3.58±2.96	
	Healthy	Conventional exposure				
Tilting of shoulder	1.58±1.22	4±3.8	8.6±9.26	3.71±2.78*	2.31±2.71	
Rotation of shoulder	7.29±3.04	4.9±2.63	3.47±1.99*	4.52±2.73*	6.5±2.65	
Tilting of pelvis	2.64±2.31	6.34±3.67*	8.85±3.07*	5.33±3.51	4.75±2.62	
Rotation of pelvis	3.61±2.21	3.54±2.53	3.47±3.62	4.25±3.33	4.99±2.82	

Table 3. Kinematic parameters of stepping on fixed plates

Marking of significance: * compared with healthy control, ‡ compared with the preoperative values Table 4. Kinematic parameters of stepping on non-fixed plates

Parameters	Healthy	Mini exposure						
Time		Preoperatív	Postoperative week 2	Postoperative week 6	Postoperative week 12			
Tilting of shoulder	1.19±1.0	6.5±5.29*	5.32±4.96	4.8±3.55	1.4±2.02‡			
Rotation of shoulder	7.84±3.13	4.38±2.71*	7.32±2.48	7.04±4.0	5.28±1.95			
Tilting of pelvis	2.17±2.35	8.82±4.87*	8.96±2.37*	7.7±2.69*	3.55±0.80‡			
Rotation of pelvis	4.35±1.78	5.84±4.09	7.18±1.73*	3.84±1.87	3.66±2.52			
	Healthy	Conventional exposure						
Tilting of shoulder	1.19±1.0	3.08±2.82	3.35±3.08	3.36±3.86	1.64±1.81			
Rotation of shoulder	7.84±3.13	5.44±3.52	5.45±4.12	4.51±3.14*	5.27±2.41			
Tilting of pelvis	2.17±2.35	6.3±2.99*	6.52±1.40*	5.11±3.91	4.18±2.83‡			
Rotation of pelvis	4.35±1.78	4.57±2.84	1.85±2.63	3.37±2.64	3.9±2.23			

Marking of significance: * compared with healthy control, ‡ compared with the preoperative values

As in the pelvis, shoulder girdle tilt is increased in patients with knee arthrosis, but the rate of tilt is significantly reduced only for minimally invasive exposure by the end of postoperative week 12 compared to the preoperative value (p < 0.008), however, it still remains elevated compared to healthy controls (Tables 3 and 4).

3.2. Examination of the regularity of gait during stepping

The healthy persons without exclusion criteria involved into the trial and TKR recipients were able to do stepping on both the fixed and non-fixed rigid plate, the latter one requiring greater balancing ability. For this reason, no patient was excluded from the trial. The results are summarised in Table 5.

Regularity of stepping was first tested on a fixed plate. The knee OA significantly affected the regularity of the parameters characterising stepping. The coefficient of variation (*CV*) of step frequency increased significantly (p < 0.001) (Table 5).

The mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) of the spatial motion of the affected side knee joint to be operated on decreased significantly (p < 0.0008) (Table 5), while the mean coefficient of variation of the motion of the knee on the unaffected, healthy side and that of the shoulder girdle and pelvic girdle significantly increased compared to the values of the healthy control group (p < 0.001) (Table 5, Figure 6).

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2685

Parameters		Fixed plat	e						Non-fixed p	olate					
		Control	Group II.			Group III	[.		Control	Group II.			Group III	•	
			preop	postop week 6	postop week 12	preop	postop week 6	postop week 12		preop	postop week 6	postop week 12	preop	postop week 6	postop week 12
Cadence		8.7 ±0.9	23.8 ± 1.7	$^{16.4\pm1.2}_{^{*,\dagger}}$	12.4 ± 1.1	$^{24.3 \pm 1.6}_{*}$	15.1 ±1.3 *,†,◊	$10.7 \pm 1.1 \\ ^{*,\dagger,\Diamond}$	$^{11.3\ \pm 0.9}_{\ddagger}$	29.3 ±1.9	18.7 ±1.5 *,†,‡	15.8 ±1.3 *,†,‡	30.1 ±2.0 *,‡	17.1 1.6 *,†,,‡◊	13.2 ±1.3 *,†,‡,◊
Knee motion	nd	6.9 ±0.7	2.8 ±0.2	3.5 ±0.3 *,†	4.6 ±0.4 *,†	2.9 ±0.2 *	4.1 ±0.3 *,†,◊	5.7 ±0.5 *,†,◊	8.2 ±0.8 ‡	2.9 ±0.3	3.7 ±0.3 *,†	5.1 ±0.4 *,†	3.0 ±0.3	4.3 ±0.4 *,†,◊	6.2 ±0.5 *,†,◊
	d	6.8 ±0.6	32.7 ±3.0	27.7 ±2.8 *,†,#	22.4 ±2.2 *,†,#	31.4 ±2.9	23.8 ±2.5 *,†,#,◊	17.1 ±2.0 *,†,#,◊	8.1 ±0.7 ‡	39.3 ±3.6 *,#,‡	33.9 ±2.9	26.4 ±2.4 *,†,#,‡	38.1 ±3.4	29.9 ±2.5 *,†,#,‡,◊	25.1 ±2.1 *,†,#,‡
Pelvis	tilting	21.8 ±1.8	41.4 ±3.9	35.6 ±3.3 *,†	30.8 ±2.7 *,†	42.4 ±4.1 *	30.8 ±2.8 *,†,◊	27.6 ±2.6 *,†,◊	27.9 ±2.1 ‡	46.5 ±4.1	40.1 ±3.9 *,†,‡	35.5 ±3.3 *,†,‡	47.8 ±4.2 *,‡	37.2 ±3.6 *,†,‡	32.3 ±3.0 *,†,‡
giruie	rotation	23.7 ±2.0	45.7 ±4.3	39.3 ±4.0 *,†	31.6 ±3.6 *,†	46.6 ±4.6 *	33.3 ±3.9 *,†,◊	25.9 ±3.1 *,†	29.1 ±2.5 ‡	49.3 ±4.1	43.8 ±4.3 *,†	33.2 ±4.1 *,†	49.8 ±4.4 *	39.9 ±4.1 *,†	32.4 ±3.3 *,†
Shoulder	tilting	13.2 ±1.5	29.4 ±2.5	23.5 ±2.0 *,†	$19.9 \pm 1.8 \\ ^{*,\dagger}$	27.9 ±2.4 *	20.3 ±1.7 *,†,◊	13.9 ±1.5 †,0	$^{17.0\pm1.8}_{\ddagger}$	33.4 ±2.2	27.3 ±2.7 *,†,‡	24.6 ±2.6 *,†,‡	31.9 ±2.1 *,‡	25.8 ±2.0 *,†	18.2 ±1.9 †,‡,◊
giruie	rotation	17.1 ±1.9	35.7 ±3.1	30.4 [,] ±3.3 *,†	25.7 ±3.1 *,†	34.8 ± 3.2	26.7 ±2.9 *,†,◊	19.8 ±2.3 *,†,◊	26.4 ±2.3 ‡	39.1 ±3.5 *,‡	34.9 ±3.4 *,†	31.4 ±3.2	2 37.8 ±3.6	34.8 ±3.5 *,†,‡	29.7 ±3.1 *,†,‡

Table 5. The mean \pm standard deviation of cadence and mean C v of knee motion, thing and rotation of pervis and sn
--

Remarks: Group I: control group, Group II: patients operated upon by conventional technique, Group III: patients operated upon by minimally invasive technique; preop: before operation; postop: after operation; *preop* data measured preoperatively, *postop* data measured postoperatively, *nd* non-dominant leg in healthy control subjects and affected leg in patients, *d* dominant leg in healthy subjects and non-affected leg in patients; * Significant difference compared to healthy control subjects; † Significant difference between the patient groups (Group II vs Group II vs Group II)



Figure 6

The mean CV of knee motion, tilting and rotation of pelvis and shoulder



Figure 7 The mean CV of tilting and rotation of shoulder





The mean CV of tilting and rotation of pelvis

In the early postoperative stage, the values of coefficient of variation (CV) for step frequency of stepping showed a steady improvement compared to preoperative values, while the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) for the spatial motion of the knee joint on the healthy, unaffected side and that for the motion of the shoulder girdle and pelvic girdle significantly decreased (p < 0.03). As early as postoperative week 6, the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) for the spatial motion of the knee joint on the affected side significantly increased compared to preoperative values (p < 0.03). However, even at 12 weeks after surgery, they were still significantly lower (p < 0.04) than the values of the healthy control group of similar age. When comparing the mean coefficient of variation of the spatial motion of the affected and unaffected knee joints, a significant difference is obtained both before and after surgery (p < 0.01) (Table 5, Figure 6). At 6 and 12 weeks after surgery, the patients in Groups II and III were significantly different in terms of all measured parameters, except for pelvis rotation tested at 12 weeks after surgery (p < 0.09) (Table 5, Figure 8). The values of coefficient of variation (CV) for the gait parameters of the patients operated on with minimally invasive technique come closer to the normal values more rapidly than the values of the patients operated on with conventional technique.

Regularity of stepping was tested on non-fixed plate as well (Table 5). Comparison to the values of the healthy control group shows that the knee OA (p<0.02) and the implantation of a knee prosthesis significantly (p<0.006) affected gait regularity (Table

5., Figure 7). Both before and after surgery, the trend of change in regularity was consistent with the trend determined during stepping on the fixed plate. The mode of exposure significantly influenced the regularity of all parameters characterizing stepping on the non-fixed plate throughout the early postoperative stage. In the early postoperative period, the regularity of the parameters tested in Group III nears the average of the healthy control group more quickly than the values of Group II, but does not reach them even at week 12. When comparing the mean CVs of Group II and Group III, the difference is significant throughout, with the exception of the values for contralateral side motion (p > 0.07), the pelvic rotation (p > 0.06) and tilt (p > 0.08) and shoulder rotation (p > 0.06) at 12 weeks after surgery (Table 5, Figure 6).

3.4. Results of the ultrasound-based provocation (abrupt change of direction) test

Lehr's damping number (D) describing the dynamic balancing ability is influenced by the sex and age of the subjects (*Kiss, 2011*), in view of this, the evaluation is broken down by sex. All subjects managed to perform the test, so there was no exclusion for this reason. In the ultrasound-based abrupt direction change (provocation) test (Lehr's damping number [D] mean ±standard deviation), the dominant limb of healthy controls is compared with the relative healthy limb not undergoing surgery, while the nondominant limb is compared with the operated limb affected by OA. The results are summarised in Table 6 (Figure 9).

~			Standing		
Groups	Sex		on two loss	dominant/	non-dominant/
			on two legs	non affected leg	affected leg
Healthy(Gr I.)	Men		0.465 ± 0.033	0.447 ± 0.030	$0.290 \pm 0.039^{\ a,b}$
	Women		$0.499 \pm 0.029 \ ^{g}$	$0.483 \pm 0.028 {}^{g}$	0.341 ± 0.031 ^{a,b,g}
Group II.	Man	prior to op	$0.325 \pm 0.049^{\ c}$	0.305 ± 0.042 °	0.084 ± 0.049 ^{a,b,c}
	men	6 weeks	0.321 ± 0.034 °	$0.317 \pm 0.039^{ \rm c}$	$0.105\pm 0.039^{\text{ a,b, c}}$
		12 weeks	0.362 ± 0.037 ^{c,d,e}	0.357 ±0.035 c,d,e	0.187 ±0.035 a,b,c,d,e
		prior to op	0.320 ± 0.041 °	$0.312 \pm 0.049^{\ c}$	0.088 ± 0.047 ^{a,b,c}
	Women	6 weeks	$0.308 \pm 0.037 ^{\rm c}$	0.304 ± 0.037 °	0.108 ±0.033 ^{a,b,c,d}
		12 weeks	0.367 ±0.035 c,d,e	0.360 ±0.037 ^{c,d, e}	0.191 ±0.033 a,b,c,d,e
Group III.	Man	prior to op	$0.328 \pm 0.049^{\ c}$	0.311 ± 0.042 °	0.085 ± 0.041 ^{a,b,c}
	men	6 weeks	0.375 ± 0.031 ^{c,d,f}	0.358 ± 0.035 ^{c,d,f}	0.157 ± 0.037 a,b,c,d,f
		12 weeks	0.414 ± 0.037 ^{c,d,e,f}	0.402 ± 0.031 ^{c,d,e,f}	0.209± 0.035 a,b,c,d, e,f
		prior to op	$0.338 \pm 0.049^{\ c}$	$0.324 \pm 0.049^{\ c}$	0.099 ± 0.047 ^{a,b,c}
	Women	6 weeks	$0.341 \pm 0.035 \text{ c,d,f}$	$0.379 \pm 0.032 \ ^{\text{c,d,f}}$	$0.159 \pm 0.038 \ ^{a,b,c,d,f}$
		12 weeks	0.409 ± 0.035 c,d,e,f	0.399 ± 0.037 c,d,e,f	0.217 ± 0.034 a,b,c,d,e,f

Table 6. Change in Lehr's damping ratios [D, %] during provocation (abrupt direction change) test within the first 3 month after surgery

^a Significant difference in D values between upon one leg and two legs measured values

38

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2685

^b Significant difference in D values between non-dominant/affected leg and the dominant/non-affected leg

^c Significant difference in D values between OA patients and healthy control group

^dSignificant difference in D values between preop and postop values

^e Significant difference in 6 weeks and 12 weeks after operation

^f Significant difference in D values between the two operation techniques (conventional-mini exposure) ^g Significant difference in D values between the genders



Figure 9

Results of provocation test conducted preoperatively and at 6 and 12 weeks

postoperatively compared to age-matched control group

For both patient groups, the Lehr's damping number, calculated from the measured values during week 6 after surgery was not significantly different from the preoperative values (p > 0.14). The Lehr's damping number increases gradually from the 6th week postoperatively, and is significantly higher at the postoperative 12th week than the preoperative values (p < 0.008). Nevertheless, the values at week 12 after surgery were still significantly lower than those of the controls (p < 0.01) (Table 6., Figure 9).

For patients operated on with minimally invasive technique, the Lehr's damping number calculated from the results of the measurement taken at weeks 6 and 12 postoperatively is significantly higher ($p_{week 6} < 0.03$, $p_{week 12} < 0.0007$) than the preoperative values, but still significantly lower than those of the control group (Gr.I.) (p < 0.01) (*Pethes, 2015*). For patients operated on with minimally invasive technique (Gr. III.), the Lehr's damping ratios calculated from the results of measurements taken at weeks 6 and 12 postoperatively is significantly higher than the values of the group of patients operated on with the conventional technique (Gr. II.) (p < 0.03) (Table 6, Figure 9).

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. Effect of exposure method of knee arthroplasty on kinematic parameters characterising knee motion

We aimed to determine how the knee arthroplasty conducted with different exposures affects the clinical parameters characterising knee motion during stepping. The method used for testing the motion of the knee joint as well as that of the related joints is reliable and reproducible. The gait amplitudes in anteroposterior direction of the group of healthy subjects used as age-matched controls without musculoskeletal disorders are significantly higher compared to the tested patients with knee osteoarthritis. This is consistent with previous research findings (*Hinman, 2002*).

In the early postoperative period, the tested kinematic parameters of the motion of the healthy knee joint on the non-operated side return to the pre-operative level by the end of the 3rd month. In the case of minimally invasive exposure, the motion range of the affected knee joint is significantly greater than the preoperative values and the range of vertical motion reaches the values of the healthy side already in the postoperative 6th week (Table 1 and 2). The same cannot be said for conventional exposure. The range of motion of the knee joint operated on with conventional exposure is reduced in comparison to the contralateral healthy knee, mainly due to the decrease of motion in the anteroposterior direction.

In the case of both exposures, the increased neuromuscular control on the moving plate, which requires more balancing, resulted in reduced motion of the operated knee joint compared to the healthy contralateral side. This is due to a reduction in back and forth motion. It can be established that neuromuscular protection, pain reduction and safety-seeking gait (walking in a safe manner) reduce the greatest motion of range, which is the back and forth motion.

Increasing the tilt of the pelvic and shoulder girdles compensates for reduced knee joint motion. The rotation of the pelvic and shoulder girdles does not take part in the compensation, which partly contradicts our previous results (*Bejek, 2006*). This is explained by the fact that we studied stepping and rotation plays a role mainly in translatory motion. The kinematic parameters examining the knee motion seem to confirm that in the case of operations performed with navigation from smaller exposure

there is a faster improvement trend in stepping after surgery than after conventional surgery with full exposure.

4.2. Effect of exposure method of knee arthroplasty on stepping regularity

The second objective of our study was to establish how knee arthroplasty performed with different exposures affects the regularity of gait. The regularity of the stride-tostride movement of the lower extremities is characterized by variability parameters (relative standard deviations) describing the regularity of length and temporal parameters of gait (*Newell, 1993; Fuchs, 1994; Hausdorff, 2005; Dubost, 2006*). If the variation in the length and temporal parameters of gait results in a reduced value, then the subject's lower extremity is performing a similar movement from stride to stride, with each step occurring in a similar way with minimal variation (*Hausdorff, 2001; Heiderscheit, 2000*). Mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*), which describes the regularity of joint motion, is a variability parameter that reflects the adaptability of joints (*Hausdorff, 2005; Heiderscheit, 2000*). Lower extremity movement is described by knee motion, upper body movement is defined by pelvis and shoulder tilt and rotation, while variability is characterised by their relative standard deviation.

The knee motions characterising the spatial motion of the knee as well as the pelvic and shoulder tilt and rotation are angular parameters that are characterised by the mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) (*Hausdorff, 2005; Smith 2006; McClealland, 2009*). A higher mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) of the spatial motion of knee joint indicates better joint flexibility, which ensures continuous step-by-step correction, alignment and coordination of the motions of individual joints and body parts, thus ensuring a coordinated, rhythmic gait pattern (*Fuchs, 1994; Beuchet, 2007*). A decrease in the regularity of angular parameters induced an increase in the variability of temporal parameters, which in conjunction led to deterioration in the complexity (*Smith, 2006; Gergoulis, 2007*) and stability (*England, 2006; Hausdorff, 2005*) of the motion.

The gait is harmonious if the variability of the spatial and temporal parameters characterising the regularity of the gait pattern is small, but the mean standard deviation of the angular parameters characterising the flexibility of the joint is high. (*Maki, 1997; Hausdorff, 2001; Brach, 2005; Beauchet, 2007; Kiss, 2010 a,b*).

The increased relative standard deviation in the cadence of the operated patients (Groups II and III) in the pre- and postoperative periods shows a deterioration in limb motion regularity compared to Group I used as control, which correlates with previous literature (Newell, 1993; Dubost, 2016). The irregularity may also be due to increased pain, which may be indicated by low scores of the quality of life tests. The results obtained are similar to those measured on a treadmill 6 months after knee arthroplasty (Kiss, 2012). In the pre-operative and early post-operative period, the *Mean CV* of the affected knee decreased compared to the age-matched control group of healthy subjects. In the postoperative period, the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) of the motion of the affected knee increased significantly, but still did not reach the values of the control group at 12 weeks after TKA. This suggests that the joint is stiffer (Smith, 2006; Kiss, 2010), which is influenced by the pain caused by arthrosis in the preoperative period. In the postoperative period, stiffness may develop due to pain, reduced muscle strength and proprioceptive deficits (Hubley-Kozey, 2006). Based on the results obtained, it can be stated that both before surgery and at the postoperative week 12, an increase in the coefficient of variation of cadence and a decrease in the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) of the affected knee motion led to decreased coordination and increased variability of motions (Newell, 1993; Hausdorff, 2005; Dubost, 2006; Smith, 2006). These data indicate an increased risk of falls. The increased mean CV of the nonaffected knee motion as well as the pelvis and shoulder motions show that these joints also play an important role in the compensatory mechanisms that ensure gáti stability. This confirms the previous statements made by our team (Bejek, 2011; Kiss, 2011a; Kiss, 2012).

Prior to surgery, no significant difference was detected between the parameters of groups II and III, which confirms the random selection conditions. In the early postoperative period, a significant difference was found between groups II and III in all the parameters studied. The values of the patients operated on with navigation-assisted minimally invasive technique (group III) improved faster than the values of the patients operated on with the conventional method (group II), but the standard deviation of the gait and the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) of the affected knee joint motion were still significantly different from the control group even at 12 weeks after surgery.

When gait testing was performed on an unstable, non-fixed plate, the mean coefficient of variation (Mean CV) of the non-affected knee motion as well as the values of the pelvic and shoulder tilts were greater than those measured on a fixed plate. This may suggest that contralateral knee motions as well as shoulder and pelvic tilts may play an important role in compensation and maintaining stability. These deductions correlate with the results of previous measurements on treadmill (*Kiss, 2011a; 2012*).

4.3. Effect of knee arthroplasty performed with different exposure methods on the dynamic balancing ability of the knee

In the further part of our studies, we investigated the deterioration of balancing ability after a sudden change of direction, which is closely associated with an increased risk of tragic falls in the elderly, in the preoperative period and the early period after TKA. The values obtained were compared with those of the age-matched control group. The question arose as to whether the method of TKR exposure influenced the faster convergence of the response to the sudden change of direction compared to the control. After TKR performed with conventional technique, the Lehr's damping ratio at week 6, determined by all three test methods, was not significantly different from the preoperative values (Table 6, Figure 9), and was significantly lower than the values in the control group. Previous studies have described that in the early period after TKR surgery, static balancing ability measured during double limb standing is worse than that of healthy people (Gauchard, 2010). The results of our own researches have also demonstrated that in the early postoperative period after TKR surgery, the values of the provocation test conducted during standing on the operated side and on the unaffected contralateral side do not improve significantly compared to the preoperative period, i.e. the risk of falling is very high throughout the early postoperative period (*Nevitt*, 1989; Pethes, 2012). In the next stage of the postoperative period, the Lehr's damping number characterising the balancing ability increases steadily for all the three test methods (Table 6, Figure 9), but does not reach the values of the control group for any of the test methods at week 12 postoperatively. This high risk of falling may be due to the fact that the non-operated side is not yet able to compensate for the reduced balancing capacity of the operated side (Nevitt, 1989; Pethes, 2012). The presumed reason for this is that the muscles are not yet able to take over the role that the affected joint capsule and the

removed ligaments play in balancing (*Freeman, 1965*), or the joint capsule and the damaged muscles have not yet regenerated properly and movement provokes pain. The Lehr's damping number calculated from the values recorded during standing on the unaffected side and standing on both limbs also decreased compared to the values of the control group, which is in line with Gage's (*Gage, 2007*) finding suggesting that kinematic responses in unilateral diseases and in the case of surgeries are bilateral. In patients undergoing minimally invasive knee arthroplasty, the Lehr's damping number characterising the dynamic balancing gradually improves over the entire postoperative period compared to preoperative values, and the improvement is faster than that in patients undergoing conventional surgery, but does not reach the values of the control group in any of the test methods at week 12 postoperatively (*Pethes, 2012*).

The presumed reason for the difference between the two exposure methods is that the minimally invasive technique entails much less joint capsule involvement than the conventional technique. In both groups of patients, the sex of the subject did not affect the ability to balance after an abrupt change of direction (Table 6, Figure 9), i.e. the physiological difference between the sexes disappears (*Pethes, 2012*). In addition to increasing joint motion and muscle development, rehabilitation protocols should also focus on developing dynamic balancing ability. It should be taken into consideration that at week 12 postoperatively, the dynamic balancing ability is worse for both exposure methods than for the control group, which indicates that the risk of falling is high. In other words, the ability to adapt to unexpected situations, e.g. walking on uneven or slippery ground, is still significantly lower in the early postoperative period compared to the age-matched control group, so prolonged physiotherapy and the use of walking aids should be considered at postoperative follow-up examinations to prevent accidents, after assessing the effect of age and comorbidities (*Pethes, 2012*).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Knee joint endoprosthesis implantation is one of the most frequently used orthopaedic procedures. However, 20 percent of the patients who underwent the operation are dissatisfied with the outcomes (Confalonieri, 2019). The reason for this is not clear, but a mechanical alignment beyond 3° of varus-valgus can represent the most important cause of failure of TKR and consequently patient dissatisfaction. Neutral mechanical alignment is the main goal in every TKR (Confalonieri, 2019). This can be achieved through different tools, such as extramedullary and intramedullary guides, patientspecific instrumentation (PSI) and computer-assisted surgery (CAS). The use of an intramedullary guide may lead to fat embolism, there is an increased risk of fatty embolism and it is impossible to use in cases of bone deformity and post-traumatic deformities (sequelae of trauma). Regarding the extramedullary guide, it becomes more difficult to use in cases of great obesity or increased soft-tissue volume around the tibia. Meta-analysis suggests that surgeries conducted with PSI fail to improve the mechanical axis and implant survivorship (Confalonieri, 2019). Computer-assisted total knee arthroplasty has provided a useful tool in assisting the surgeon to achieve more accurate mechanical axis through precise bone cuts and ligament balancing. Early follow-up after CAS showed a more accurate mechanical axis and better functional outcomes, and two meta-analyses demonstrated a definitely better mechanical axis and longer implant survival (Moskal, 2014; Rebal, 2014; Confalonieri, 2019). Besides the better mechanical axis of the components, the quality of life parameters are also better compared to the traditional surgical method, but the operative time is longer and thus the use of tourniquet also lasts longer.

The main objective of the research conducted with biomechanical methods and summarized so far was to determine how the knee joint prosthesis implanted with different surgical techniques (conventional and navigation-assisted minimally invasive approaches) affects kinematic parameters characterising the knee motion, gait regularity and dynamic balancing ability of the knee joint in the event of an abrupt change of direction.

For safe, harmonious walking, it is essential that motion is performed within the correct range and with adequate accuracy, and that the person always regains balance in the

45

event of a sudden stumble or fall. Based on the statistical processing of the results of the motion studies carried out, the following new scientific findings can be concluded:

Thesis 1: The kinematic parameters (range of motion of the knee joint, range of motion of the pelvic girdle rotation, range of motion of the pelvic girdle tilt, range of motion of the shoulder girdle rotation, and range of motion of the shoulder girdle tilt) that characterize stepping were significantly influenced by the method of exposure of the total knee arthroplasty on fixed plates (Tables 1. and 3.). The anteroposterior gait amplitudes of the healthy subjects used as age-matched controls without musculoskeletal disorders were significantly higher compared to the patients with knee osteoarthritis (Tables 1. and 3.). In the early post-operative period, the kinematic parameters of the motion of the knee-joint of the non-operated side, i.e. those characterising the motion of the relatively healthy knee joint, are back to the preoperative level by the end of the 3rd month. With minimally invasive exposure, the motion range of the affected knee joint is significantly greater than the preoperative values and the vertical range of motion reaches the values of the healthy side already in the postoperative 6th week. In the case of conventional exposure, this cannot be said even at the end of 12th week. Increasing the tilt of the pelvic and shoulder girdles compensates for the reduced knee joint motion. The explanation for the differences between the two methods could be that the surgical damage of the adjaecent tissues around the joint in case of minimal invasive exposure is much less.

Thesis 2: The above mentioned observations are valid on non-fixed, moving plates as well. There are no significant alterations compared with the results measured on fixed plate (Tables 2. and 4.). It may prove that different circumstances influence the motion range of the knee much less than the different methods of the exposure.

Thesis 3: The increased coefficient of variation of the cadence observed pre- and postoperatively in patients operated on by different methods (navigated minimally invasive and conventional methods) shows that the regularity of limb movements deteriorates compared to the age-matched healthy controls without musculoskeletal disorders (Table 5, Fig 6-8). The results obtained suggest that both before surgery and at postoperative week 12, an increase in the variation of cadence of the affected knee motions led to decreased coordination of motions and increased variability of motions (Table 5, Fig 6-8). In the early postoperative period, the values of CV for the patients

operated on with navigation-assisted minimally invasive technique (group III) decreased significantly faster than those for the patients operated on with the conventional method (group II), but the coefficient of variation characterising gait regularity and the mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) of the affected knee joint motion were still significantly different from the control group even at week 12 postoperatively.

Thesis 4.: The above mentioned observations are valid on moving non-fixed plates as well. There are no significant alterations compared with the results measured on fixed plate (Table 5., Fig. 6-8.). The explanation could be that the different circumstances influence the regularity of cadence much less than the different methods of the exposure. When gait testing was performed on an unstable, non-fixed plate, the mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) of the non-affected knee joint motion as well as the pelvic and shoulder tilt values were greater than those measured on a fixed plate. This may suggest that contralateral knee motions as well as shoulder and pelvic tilt may play an important role in compensation and maintaining stability.

Thesis 5.: In the early period after total knee arthroplasty (3 months), the response to sudden change of direction during standing, i.e. the provocation test values on both extremities, on the operated side and on the non-affected contralateral side, do not improve significantly compared to the preoperative status, i.e. the risk of falling is very high throughout the early period after surgery. The Lehr's damping number increases steadily, but does not reach the values of the control group at week 12 after surgery (Table 6, Figure 9). The Lehr's damping number calculated from the values measured during standing on the unaffected side and on both limbs also decreased compared to the values of control group, which is in line with Gage's (Gage, 2007) finding: kinematic responses in unilateral diseases and surgery manifest bilaterally. The presumed reason for the difference between the two exposure methods is that the minimally invasive technique causes much less surgical damage to the joint capsule than the conventional technique. The other reason is that in medial parapatellar exposure, the vastus medialis muscle adhering to the patella and part of the rectus femoris muscle radiating into the quadriceps tendon are also virtually detached from the patella, as a result, not only the muscle function but also the proprioception is impaired in the early immediate postoperative period until the muscle heals. In addition to increasing joint motion and

muscle development, rehabilitation protocols should also focus on developing dynamic balancing skills.

A summary of my results: I have found that the exposure method of TKR significantly influenced the kinematic parameters characterising stepping and the two factors characterising safe gait: gait regularity and dynamic balancing ability (response to abrupt change of direction). By the 3rd month of the postoperative period, the values of the patients operated on with minimally invasive exposure combined with navigation were closer to those of the control group than the values of the patients operated on with my failed to reach the values of the control group. Due to my research I can formulate the next statements:

1. The kinematic parameters (range of motion of the knee joint, range of motion of the pelvic girdle rotation, range of motion of the pelvic girdle tilt, range of motion of the shoulder girdle rotation, and range of motion of the shoulder girdle tilt) that characterize stepping were significantly influenced by the method of exposure of the total knee arthroplasty on fixed plates.

2. With minimally invasive exposure, the motion range of the affected knee joint is significantly greater than the preoperative values and the vertical range of motion reaches the values of the healthy side already in the postoperative 6th week. In the case of conventional exposure, this cannot be said even at the end of postoperative 12th week. 3. Different circumstances (fixed or non-fixed plates) influence the motion range of the knee much less than the different methods of the exposure.

4. An increase in the variation of cadence and the decreased knee motion of the affected knee led to decreased coordination of motions and increased variability of motions preoperatively and still at the postoperative week 12

5. In the early postoperative period the coefficient of variation characterising gait regularity for the patients operated on with navigation-assisted minimally invasive technique (group III) decreased significantly faster than those for the patients operated on with the conventional method (group II).

6. The coefficient of variation and the mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) of the affected knee joint motion were still significantly different from the control group even at week 12 postoperatively.

48

7. The mean coefficient of variation (*Mean CV*) of the non-affected knee joint motion as well as the pelvic and shoulder tilt values were greater than those measured on a fixed plate. This may suggest that contralateral knee motions as well as shoulder and pelvic tilt may play an important role in compensation and maintaining stability.

8. In the early period after total knee arthroplasty (3 months), the response to sudden change of direction during standing, i.e. the provocation test values on both extremities, on the operated side and on the non-affected contralateral side, do not improve significantly compared to the preoperative status.

9. The Lehr's damping number calculated from the values measured during standing on the unaffected side and on both limbs also decreased compared to the values of control group, which indicates that kinematic responses in unilateral diseases and surgery manifest bilaterally.

6. SUMMARY

As knee osteoarthritis (OA) worsens, the kinematic parameters of knee joint motions, gait stability and gait safety deteriorate, as evidenced by the deterioration of dynamic balancing ability and gait regularity. With advancing age, in 3-5% of the population, the degree of degenerative deviation justifies the implantation of a knee prosthesis, which can ensure the safety and stability of gait in the long term. The different exposure methods significantly affect gait parameters in the early postoperative period. In our research, we investigated to what extent TKR with different exposure methods (navigation-assisted minimally invasive and conventional) affects the quality of life and functional tests, the kinematic parameters of knee joint motions, the gait regularity and the dynamic balancing ability measured by ultrasound-based abrupt change of direction test during the first three months of the postoperative period. Our results demonstrate that in the patients involved in the study, the exposure method of knee arthroplasty significantly influences the kinematic parameters of knee motions, gait regularity, and dynamic balancing ability. In the postoperative 3rd month, the results of the research show that the surgical method of knee arthroplasty should be taken into account when postoperative rehabilitation is being planned. Exercises to improve dynamic balancing and proprioceptive development of the non-operated side are also recommended. The difference between surgical methods should also be taken into account in determining when to discontinue the use of medical aids and equipment prescribed in the postoperative period.

7. REFERENCES

Abbasi-Bafghi H, Yakhdani HRF, Meijer OG, de Vet HCW, Bruijn SM, Yang LY, Knol DL, Van Royen BJ, van Dieën JH. (2012) The effects of knee arthroplasty on walking speed: a meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 13: 66-75. PMID: 22559793

Agarwal A, Miller S, Hadden W, Johnston L, Wang W, Arnold G, Abboud RJ. (2019) Comparison of gait kinematics in total and unicondylar knee replacement surgery. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. Jul; 101 (6): 391-398.

Alcelik IA, Mark I Blomfield MI, Diana G, Gibbon AJ, Carrington N, Burr S A. (2016) Comparison of Short-Term Outcomes of Minimally Invasive Computer-Assisted vs Minimally Invasive Conventional Instrumentation for Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Arthroplasty, 31 (2): 410-418. Allen CL, Hooper GJ, Oram BJ, Wells JE. (2014) Does computer-assisted total knee arthroplasty improve the overall component position and patient function? Int Orthop. 38 (2): 251-257.

Astephen JL, Deluzio KJ, Caldwell GE, Dunbar MJ. (2008) Biomechanical changes at the hip, knee, and ankle joints during gait are associated with knee osteoarthritis severity J Orthop Res, 26 (3): 332-341.

Ángyán L. Az emberi test mozgástana. Pécs: Motio Kiadói BT. 2005: 35-44.

Bączkowicz D1, Skiba G2, Czerner M2, Majorczyk E. (2018) Gait and functional analysis before and after total knee arthroplasty Knee, 25 (5): 888-896

Barrett DS, Cobb AG, Bentley G. (1991) Joint proprioception in normal, osteoarthritic and replaced knees. J Bone Joint Surg Br. Jan, 73 (1): 53-56.

Barton JG, Lees A. (1997) An application of neural networks for distinguishing gait patterns on the basis of hip-knee joint angle diagrams Gait Posture Volume 5: 28-33.

Beauchet O, Allali G, Berrut G, Dubost V. (2007) Is low lower-limb kinematic variability always an index of stability? (Letter to the editor) Gait Posture 26: 327-328. Beauchet O, Annweiler C, Lecordroch Y, Allali G, Dubost V, Herrmann FR, Kressig RW. (2009) Walking speed-related changes in stride time variability: effects of

decreased speed. Neuroeng Rehabil. 5: 6-32.

Bejek Z, Paróczai R, Illyés A, Kiss RM. The influence of walking speed on gait parameters in healthy people and in patients with osteoarthritis. (2006) Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc, 14 : 612–622.

Bejek Z, Sólyom L, Szendrői M. (2007) Experiences with computer navigated total knee arthroplasty. Int Orthop. 31 (5): 617-622.

Bejek Z, Handl D, Szendrői M. (2009) Számítógépes navigációval végzett minimál invazív térdprotézis beültetés. Magyar Traumatológia Ortopédia Kézsebészet Plasztikai Sebészet, 52 (2) : 164-170.

Bejek Z, Paróczai R, Szendrői M, Kiss RM. (2011) Gait Analysis Following TKA: Comparison of Conventional Technique, Computer-Assisted Navigation and Minimally Invasive Technique Combined With Computer-Assisted Navigation Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc, 19 (2) : 285-291.

Bellamy N. WOMAC Osteoarthritis Index. A user's guide. London, Ontario, Canada: University of Western Ontario, 1995.

Berth A, Urbach D, Becker R, Awiszus F. (2002) Gait analysis in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee before and after total knee replacement Zentralbl Chir. 127 (10) : 868-872.

Biggs PR, Whatling GM, Wilson C, Holt CA. (2019) Correlations between patientperceived outcome and objectively-measured biomechanical change following Total Knee Replacement. Gait Posture. 70 : 65-70.

Biggs PR, Whatling GM, Wilson C, Metcalfe AJ, Holt CA. (2019) Which osteoarthritic gait features recover following total knee replacement surgery? PLoS One 14(1): e0203417

Biggs PR, Whatling GM, Wilson C, Holt CA. (2019) Correlations between patientperceived outcome and objectively-measured biomechanical change following Total Knee Replacement. Gait Posture. May; 70:65-70.

Blin O, Ferrandez AM, Serratrice G. (1990) Quantitative analysis of gait in Parkinson patients: increased variability of stride length. J Neurol Sci, 98 : 91–97.

Boeer J, Mueller O, Krauss I, Haupt G, Horstmann T. (2010) Zuverlässigkeitsprüfung eines Messverfahrens zur Charakterisierung des Standverhaltens und Quantifizierung des Balancevermögens auf einer instabilen Plattform (Posturo-Med). Sportverletz Sportschaden, 24 : 40–45.

Boeer J, Mueller O, Krauss I, Haupt G, Axmann D, Horstman T. (2010) Effect of a sensory-motor exercise program for older adults with osteoarthritis or prosthesis of the hip using measurements made by Posturscillatory platform. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 33 : 10–15.

Boyer KA. Hafer JF, Kent JA. (2019) Physical activity and age-related biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis. Gait Posture, 70 : 24-29

Brach JS, Berlin JE, Van Swearingen JM, Newman AB, Studenski SA. (2005) Too much or too little step width variability is associated with a fall history in older person, who walked at or near normal gait speed. J Neuroeng Rehabil, 2:21-34.

Buzzi UH, Stergiou N, Kurz MJ, Hageman PA, Heidel J, (2003) Nonlinear dynamics indicates aging affects variability during gait. Clinical Biomechanics. 18 (5) : 435–443. Casuero A. (2017) Knee arthroplasty. Acta Biomed. 88 (2S): 5.

Chauhan SK, Scott RG, Breidahl W, Beaver RJ (2004) Computerassisted knee arthroplasty versus a conventional jig-based technique. A randomised, prospective trial. J Bone Joint Surg Br., 86 (3) : 372-377.

Cila E, Güzel V, Ozalay M, Jale Tan J., Simşek A, Ulunay Kanatli U., Oztürk A.

(2002) Subvastus versus medial parapatellar approach in total knee arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, (122) 65-68.

Confalonieri N, Biazzo A. (2019) Computer-assisted surgery in total knee replacement: advantages, surgical procedure and review of the literature. Acta Biomed. 90 (1):16-23. Creaby MW, Bennell KL, Hunt MA. (2012) Gait differs between unilateral and bilateral knee osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 93 (5) : 822-877

Craig M, McAllister MD, Jeff D, Stepanian PA. (2008) The Impact of Minimally Invasive Surgical Techniques on Early Range of Motion After Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty, 23 (1):10-8.

Davis A, Etiinger WH, Neuhaus JM, Mallon KP. (1991) Knee osteoarthritis and physical functioning: evidence from the NHANES I Epidemiologic Followup Study. J Rheumatol. (4) : 591-598.

Dawson J, Fitzpatrick R, Murray D, Carr AJ. Questionnaire on the perceptions of patients about total knee replacement. (1998) Bone Joint Surg Br. 80 (1) : 63-69.

Dawson J, Fitzpatrick R, Churchman D, Verjee-Lorenz A, Clayson D. (2010) User manual for the Oxford knee score (OKS).; Oxford, UK: Isis Outcomes, Isis Innovation.

DeVita P, Hortobagyi T. (2000) Age causes a redistribution of joint torques and powers during gait. J Appl Physiol, 88: 1804–1811

Dingwell JB, Marin LC. (2006) Kinematic variability and local dynamic stability of upper body motions when walking at different speeds. J Biomech, 39 : 444–452.

Dingwell JB, Kang HG. (2007) Difference between local and orbital dynamic stability during human walking. Journal of Biomechanical Engineering-Transactions of the Asme, 129 (4) : 586–593.

Domínguez-Navarro F, Igual-Camacho C, Silvestre-Muñoz A, Roig-Casasús S, Blasco JM. (2018) Effects of balance and proprioceptive training on total hip and knee replacement rehabilitation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gait Posture. 62 : 68-74.

Dubost V, Kressig RW, Gonthier R, Herrmann FR, Aminian K, Najafi B, Beauchet O. (2006) Relationship between dual task related changes in stride velocity and stride time variability in healthy older adults. Hum Mov Sci, 25 : 372-382.

Engh GA, Holt BT, Parks NL. (1997) A Midvastus Muscle-Splitting Approach for Total Knee Arthroplasty J Arthroplasty, 12 (3) : 322-31.

Erkes F. (1929) Weitere Erfahrungen mit physiologischer Schnitt fuhrung zur Eroffnung des Kniegelenks. Bruns' Beitr. zur Win. Chir.;147:221.

Falez F. (2014) Knee arthroplasty today Int Orthop. 38 (2) :221–225.

Feczko P, Engelmann L, Jacobus J Arts JJ, Campbell D. (2016) Computer-assisted Total Knee Arthroplasty Using Mini Midvastus or Medial Parapatellar Approach Technique: A Prospective, Randomized, International Multicentre Trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 13: 17–19.

Flören M, Reichel H, Davis J., Laskin RS, (2008) The mini-incision mid-vastus approach for total knee arthroplasty Oper Orthop Traumatol. 20 (6): 534-543.

Foley SJ., Lord SR., Srikanth V., Cooley H., Jones G. (2006) Falls risk is associated with pain and dysfunction but not radiographic osteoarthritis in older adults: Tasmanian Older Adult Cohort study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage.14 (6) : 533–539.

Freeman M. (1965) Treatment of rupture of the lateral ligament of the ankle. J Bone Joint Surg Br; 47 : 661–668.

Fuchs A, Kelso JA. (1994) A theoretical note on models of interlimb coordination. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform; 20: 1088-1097.

Gage WH, Frank JS, Prentice SD, Stevenson P. (2007) Postural responses following a rotational support surfaces perturbation, following knee joint replacement: Frontal plane rotations Gait & Posture, 25 : 112–120.

Gauchard GC, Vançon G, Meyer P, Mainard D, Perrin PP (2010) On the role of knee joint in balance control and postural strategies: effects of total knee replacement in elderly subjects with knee osteoarthritis Gait Posture, 32 (2): 155-160

Georgoulis AD, Moraiti C, Ristanis S, Stergiou N. (2006) A Novel Approach to Measure Variability in the Anterior Cruciate Ligament Deficient Knee During Walking: The Use of the Approximate Entropy in Orthopaedics. J Clin Monit Comput 20 (1) : 11-18.

Hafer JF, Miller MS, Kent JA, Boyer KA. (2019) Physical Activity and Age-Related Biomechanical Risk Factors for Knee Osteoarthritis. Gait Posture, 70 : 24-29.

Hafer JF, Miller MS, Kent JA, Boyer KA. (2019) The Roles of Sex and Physical Activity in Gait and Knee Extensor Function With Age. J. Appl Biomech, 35 (4) : 263-271.

Hatfield GL, Hubley-Kozey CL, Astephen Wilson JL, Dunbar MJ. (2011) The effect of total knee arthroplasty on knee joint kinematics and kinetics during gait.J Arthroplasty. 3 26 (2) :309-18.

Hausdorff JM, Forman DE, Ladin Z, Goldberger AL, Rigney DR, Wei JY. (1994) Increased walking variability in elderly persons with congestive heart failure. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 42: 1056–1061.

Hausdorff J. M., Rios D. A., Edelberg H. K. (2001) Gait variability and fall risk in community-living older adults: a 1-year prospective study. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 82, 1050–1056.

Hausdorff JM, Ashkenazy Y, Peng CK, Ivanov PC, Stanley HE, Goldberger AL. (2001) When human walking becomes random walking: fractal analysis and modeling of gait rhythm fluctuations. Physica A. 15; 302 (1-4) : 138-147.

Hausdorff JM. (2005) Gait variability: methods, modeling and meaning. J Neuroeng Rehabil. 2:19.

Heiden TL, Lloyd DG, Ackland TR (2009) Knee joint kinematics, kinetics and muscle co-contraction in knee osteoarthritis patient gait. 24 (10):833-841.

55

Heiderscheit BC. (2000) Movement variability as a clinical measure for locomotion. J Appl Biomech, 16: 419-427

Herman T, Giladi N, Gurevich T., Hausdorff J. M. (2005) Gait instability and fractal dynamics of older adults with a "cautious" gait: why do certain older adults walk fearfully? Gait Posture 21, 178–185.

Hetaimish BM, Khan MM, Simunovic N, Al-Harbi HH, Bhandari M, Zalzal PK. (2012) Meta-analysis of Navigation vs Conventional Total Knee Arthroplasty J Arthroplasty 27 (6) : 1177-1182.

Hill CL, Parsons J, Taylor A, Leach G. (1999) Health related quality of life in a population sample with arthritis. J Rheumatol 26: 2029–2035.

Hinman RS, Bennell KL, Metcalf BR, Crossley KM. (2002) Balance impairments in individuals with symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: a comparison with matched controls using clinical tests. Rheumatology (Oxford). 41 (12) : 1388-1394.

Hoffman M, Schrader J, Applegate T, Koceja T. (1998) Unilateral postural control of the functionally dominant and nondominant extremities of healthy subjects. J Athl Train, 33 : 319–322.

Hofmann AA, Plaster RL, Murdock LE. (1991) Subvastus (Southern) approach for primary total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 269:70–77.

Hollman JH, Kovash FM, Kubik JJ, Linbo RA. (2007) Age-related differences in spatiotemporal markers of gait stability during dual task walking. Gait Posture, 26 (1) : 113-119.

Hollman JH, Brey RH, Bang TJ, Kaufman KR. (2007) Does walking in a virtual environment induce unstable gait? An examination of vertical ground reaction forces. Gait Posture, 26 (2) : 289-94.

Hubley-Kozey CL, Deluzio KJ, Landry SC, McNutt JS, Stanish WD. (2006) Neuromuscular Alterations During Walking in Persons With Moderate Knee Osteoarthritis J Electromyogr Kinesiol., 16 (4) : 365-378.

Hunt MA, Hinman RS, Metcalf BR, Lim BW, Wrigley TV, Bowles KA, Kemp G, Bennell KL. Quadriceps strength is not related to gait impact loading in knee osteoarthritis. Knee. 2010 Aug; 17 (4):296-302.

Insall JA. (1971) Midline Approach to the Knee J Bone Joint Surg Am. 53 8: 1584-1586.

56

Insall JN, Dorr LD, Scott RD, Scott WN. (1989) Rationale of the Knee Society clinical rating system. Clin Orthop Relat Res., 248 : 13–14.

Isaac SM, Barker KL, Danial IN, Beard DJ, Dodd CA, Murray DW (2007). Does Arthroplasty Type Influence Knee Joint Proprioception? A Longitudinal Prospective Study Comparing Total and Unicompartmental Arthroplasty Knee, Jun 14 (3), 212-217. Ishii Y, Terajima K, Terashima S, Bechtold JE, Laskin RS. (1997) Comparison of joint position sense after total knee arthroplasty. Journal of Arthroplasty, 12: 541-545.

Jenkyn TR, Hunt MA, Jones IC, Giffin JR, Birmingham TB (2008) Toe-out gait in patients with knee osteoarthritis partially transforms external knee adduction moment into flexion moment during early stance phase of gait: a tri-planar kinetic mechanism. J Biomech. 41(2) :276-283.

Jones CA, Voaklander DC, Johnston DW, Suarey-Almazor ME. (2000) Health related quality of life outcomes after total hip and knee arthroplasties in a community based population. J Rheumatol; 27:1745–1752.

Jordan K, Challis JH, Newell KM. (2007) Walking speed influences on gait cycle variability. Gait Posture. 26 (1):128-134.

Kang HG, Dingwell JB. (2006a) Intra-session reliability of local dynamic stability of walking. Gait and Posture. ; 24:386–390.

Kang HG, Dingwell JB. (2006b) A direct comparison of local dynamic stability during unperturbed standing and walking. Experimental Brain Research.172 : 35–48.

Kang HG, Dingwell JB. (2008) Separating the effects of age and walking speed on gait variability Gait and Posture 27: 572–577

Kang HG, Dingwell JB. (2008) Effects of walking speed, strength and range of motion on gait stability in healthy older adults. J. Biomech. 41 (14) : 2899-2905

Kaufmann KR, Hughes C, Morrey BF, Morrey M, An KN. (2001) Gait Characteristics of Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis. J Biomech. 34 (7) :907-915.

Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. (1957) Radiological assessment of osteoarthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis, 16:494–502.

Kerrigan DC, Lee LW, Collins JJ, Riley PO, Lipsitz LA.(2001) Reduced hip extension during walking: healthy elderly and fallers versus young adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 82 (1): 26-30.

Kiscelli L. Csillapított lengőrendszer sajátlengései. In: M. Csizmadia B, Nándor E (ed.). Mechanikai mérnököknek – Mozgástan. Budapest: Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó Rt, 1997; 507–518.

Kiss RM. A propriocepció és kinesztézis vizsgálata. In: Kocsis L, Kiss RM, Illyés Á (ed). Mozgásszervek biomechanikája. Budapest: Terc Kiadó, 2007; 204–214

Kiss RM. (2007) Verification of determining the spatial position of the lower extremity by ultrasound-based motion analyzer. Periodica Politechnica Ser. Civ. Eng; 51: 39-43.

Kiss RM. Parameters of kinaesthesis during gaits derived from an ultrasound-based measuring system. In: Brebbia ED, editor. *Modeling in medicine and biology VIII*. Southampton: WIT Press; 2009. pp. 171–180.

Kiss RM. (2011) Effect of severity of knee osteoarthritis on the variability of gait parameters. J Electromyogr Kinesiol; 21:695–703

Kiss RM. (2011) A new parameter for characterizing balancing ability on an unstable oscillatory platform. Medical Engineering and Physics, 33: 1160-1166.

Kobsar D, Charlton JM, Hunt MA (2019) Individuals with knee osteoarthritis present increased gait pattern deviations as measured by a knee-specific gait deviation index. Gait Posture, 72: 82-88.

Koralewicz LM, Engh GA. (2000) Comparison of proprioception in arthritic and agematched normal knees. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 82 (11) : 1582-1588.

Lee A., Park J., Lee S. 2015 Gait analysis of elderly women after total knee arthroplasty. J Phys Ther Sci. 27 (3): 591–595.

Lee J, Chang RW, Ehrlich-Jones L, Kwoh CK, Nevitt M, Semanik PA, Sharma L, Sohn MW, Song J, Dunlop DD. (2015) Sedentary Behavior and Physical Function: Objective Evidence From the Osteoarthritis Initiative Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 67 (3):366-373.

Lotke PA, Lonner JH. Master techniques in orthopaedic surgery: knee arthroplasty. Anterior medial exposure. In 3rd ed. Lippincott: Williams & Wilkins; 2009: 1–18.

Maki BE. (1997) Gait changes in older adults: predictors of falls or indicators of fear? J Am Geriatr Soc, 45 : 313-320.

Mandeville D, Osternig LR, Chou LS. (2008) The effect of total knee replacement surgery on gait stability. Gait Posture, 27 (1) :103-109.

58

McAndrew PM, Dingwell JB, Wilken JM. (2010) Walking variability during continuous pseudo-random oscillations of the support surface and visual field. J Biomech. 43 (8) : 1470-1475.

McAndrew PM, Wilken JM, Dingwell JB. (2011) Dynamic stability of human walking in visually and mechanically destabilizing environments. J. Biomech.; 44 (4) : 644-649. McClelland JA, Webster KE, Julian A, Feller JA. (2007) Gait analysis of patients following total knee replacement: a systematic review, 14 (4) 253-263.

McClelland JA, Webster KE, Feller JA. (2009) Variability of walking and other daily activities in patients with total knee replacement. Gait Posture. (3) : 288-295.

McClelland JA, Webster KE, Feller JA, Menz HB. (2011) Knee kinematics during walking at different speeds in people who have undergone total knee replacement. Knee., 18 (3):151-155.

McClelland JA, Webster KE, Ramteke AA, Feller JA. (2017) Total knee arthroplasty with computer-assisted navigation more closely replicates normal knee biomechanics than conventional surgery. Knee. 24 (3) : 651-656.

McClelland JA, Feller JA, Webster KE. (2018) Sex Differences in Gait After Total Knee Arthroplasty J Arthroplasty. 33 (3):897-902.

Mészáros T. A járás vizsgálata. Az emberi állás és járás. In: Szendrői M (ed). Ortopédia. Budapest: Semmelweis Kiadó, 2006; 27–32.

Mills K, Hettinga BA, Pohl MB, Ferber R. (2013) Between-limb kinematic asymmetry during gait in unilateral and bilateral mild to moderate knee osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 94 (11):2241-2247.

Mills K, Hunt MA, Ferber R. (2013) Biomechanical deviations during level walking associated with knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 65 (10):1643-1665.

Mine T, Kajino M, Sato J, Itou S, Ihara K, Kawamura H, Kuriyama R, Tominaga Y. (2019) Gait oscillation analysis during gait and stair-stepping in elder patients with knee osteoarthritis. J Orthop Surg Res. 14 (1):21.

Missaoui B, Portero P, Bendaya S, Hanktie O, Thoumie P. (2008) Posture and equilibrium in orthopedic and rheumatologic diseases. Neurophysiol Clin. (6):447-457. Moskal JT, Capps SG, Mann JW, Scanelli JA (2014) Navigated versus conventional total knee arthroplasty. J Knee Surg. (3) : 235-248.

Moutzouri M, Gleeson N, Billis E, Tsepis E, Panoutsopoulou I, Gliatis J. (2017) The effect of total knee arthroplasty on patient's balance and incidence of falls: a systematic review Knee Surg. Sports 3439-3951

Möckel G, Perka C, Labs K, Duda G. (2003) The influence of walking speed on kinetic and kinematic parameters in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip using a forceinstrumented treadmill and standarised gait speeds. Archives of Orthopaedics and Trauma Surgery. 123: 278–282.

Müller O, Günther M, Krauß I, Horstmann T. (2004) Physikalische Charakterisierung des Therapiegerätes Posturomed als Meßgerät – Vorstellung eines Verfahrens zur Quantifizierung des Balancevermögens. Biomed Tech (Berlin), 49 : 56–60.

Naili JE, Broström EW, Clausen B, Holsgaard-Larsen. (2019) A Measures of knee and gait function and radiographic severity of knee osteoarthritis - A cross-sectional study. Gait Posture. 74: 20-26.

Nevitt MC, Cummings SR, Kidd S, Black D. (1989) Risk factor for recurrent nonsyncopal falls: a prospective study J. of Am Med As, 261: 2663–2668

Newell KM, Corcos DM. (1993) Issues in variability and motor control. In: Newel KM, Corcos DM. (szerk). Variability and motor control. Champaign: Human Kinetics Publishers; 1-12.

Newell RS, Hubley-Kozey CL, Stanish WD. (2008) Detecting differences between asymptomatic and osteoarthritic gait is influenced by changing the knee adduction moment model. Gait Posture, 27: 485-492

Niino N, Tsuzuku S, Ando F, Shimokata H. (2000) Frequencies and Circumstances of Falls in the National Institute for Longevity Sciences, Longitudinal Study of Aging (NILS-LSA) J Epidemiol 10 (1 Suppl): S 90-94.

Orishimo KF¹, Kremenic IJ, Deshmukh AJ, Nicholas SJ, Rodriguez JA. (2012) Does total knee arthroplasty change frontal plane knee biomechanics during gait? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 470(4):1171-1176.

Ouellet D, Moffet H. (2002) Locomotor deficits before and two months after knee arthroplasty. Arthritis Rheum, 47: 484–493.

Owings TM, Grabiner MD. (2003) Measuring step kinematic variability on an instrumented treadmill: How many steps are enough? J Biomech; 36 : 1215-1218.

Owings TM, Grabiner MD, (2004) Detecting differences between asymptomatic and osteoarthritic gait is influenced by changing the knee adduction moment model Variability of step kinematics in young and older adults. Gait Posture, 20 : 26-29.

Quagliarella L, Sasanelli N, Monaco V, G Belgiovine G, Spinarelli A, Notarnicola A, Moretti B. (2011) Relevance of Orthostatic Posturography for Clinical Evaluation of Hip and Knee Joint Arthroplasty Patients Gait Posture, 34 (1), 49-54

Pai YC, Rymer WZ, Chang RW, Sharma L. (1997) Effect of age and osteoarthritis on knee proprioception. Arthritis Rheum, 40 (12) : 2260-2265.

Pethes Á, Bejek Z, Lakatos T, Kiss RM. (2010) Térdprotézis beültetés után a járás egyes kinematikai paramétereiben bekövetkezett korai változások vizsgálata Magyar Traumatológia, Ortopédia, Kézsebészet, Plasztikai Sebészet 53 (1): 56-65.

Pethes Á, Kiss RM. (2012) A térdízületi protézis hatása a hirtelen irányváltoztatás utáni egyensúlyozó képességre a korai posztoperatív szakaszban. Biomechanica Hungarica; 5:44-52.

Pethes A, Kiss RM, Szendrői M. (2014) Variability of gait in the early postoperative period of total knee arthroplasty with different surgical technique. Int. Orthop. 38 (3) : 517-23.

Pethes Á, Bejek Z, Kiss RM. (2015) The effect of knee arthroplasty on balancing ability in response to sudden unidirectional perturbation in the early postoperative period. J. Electromyography 25 (3) : 508-14.

Petrella RJ, Lattanzio PJ, Nelson MG. (1997) Effect of age and activity on knee joint proprioception. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 76 (3) : 235-41.

Prieto TE, Myklebust JB, Hoffmann RG, Lovett EG, Myklebust BM. (1996) Measures of postural steadiness: differences between healthy young and elderly adults. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 43 (9) : 956-966

Ranawat CS, Shine JJ, (1973) Duo-condylar Total Knee Arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. (94) : 185-95.

Ranawat CS, Padgett DE, Ohashi Y. (1989) Total Knee Arthroplasty for Patients Younger Than 55 Years Clin Orthop Relat Res. (248) : 27-33.

Rebal BA, Babatunde OM, Lee JH, Geller JA, Patrick DA, Macaulay W. (2014) Imageless Computer Navigation in Total Knee Arthroplasty Provides Superior Short Term Functional Outcomes: A Meta-Analysis J Arthroplasty. 29(5): 938-944. Robbins AS, Rubenstein LZ, Josephson KR, Schulman BL, Osterweil D, Fine G. (1989) Predictors of falls among elderly people. Results of two population-based studies. Arch Intern Med; 149 : 1628-1633

Sanna M., Sanna C., Caputo F, Piu G, Salvi M. (2013) Surgical approaches in total knee arthroplasty. Joints. 1 (2): 34-44.

Schaafsma JD, Giladi N, Balash Y, Bartels AL, Gurevich T, Hausdorff JM. (2003) Gait dynamics in Parkinson's disease: relationship to Parkinsonian features, falls and response to levodopa. J Neurol Sci. 212 : 47–53.

Seon KJ, Seon EK. (2006) Navigation-assisted Less Invasive Total Knee Arthroplasty Compared With Conventional Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Randomized Prospective Trial J Arthroplasty 21 (6):777-782.

Sharma L. (1999) Proprioceptive impairment in knee osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 25 (2):299-314.

Shkuratova N, Meg E Morris ME, Frances Huxham F. (2004) Effects of Age on Balance Control During Walking. 85 (4) : 582-588.

Sibley KM, Beauchamp MK, Van Ooteghem K, Jaglal SB. (2015) Using the systems framework for postural control to analyze the components of balance evaluated in standardized balance measures: a scoping review Arch Phys Med Rehab 122-132.

Skinner HB, Barrack RL, Cook SD, Haddad RJ. (1984) Joint position sense in total knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Res, 1 276-283.

Sharma L, Pai YC, Holtkamp K, Rymer WZ (1997) Is knee joint proprioception worse in the arthritic knee versus the unaffected knee in unilateral knee osteoarthritis? Arthritis Rheum. 40 (8) : 1518-1525.

Smith AJ, Lloyd DG, Wood DJ (2006) A Kinematic and Kinetic Analysis of Walking After Total Knee Arthroplasty With and Without Patellar Resurfacing Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 21 (4) : 379-386.

Sosdian L, Dobson F, Wrigley TV, Paterson K, Bennell K, Dowsey M, Choong P, Allison K, Hinman RS. (2014) Longitudinal changes in knee kinematics and moments following knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. Knee. 21 (6) : 994-1008.

Sterling DA, O'Connor JA, Bonadies J. (2001) Geriatric falls: injury severity is high and disproportionate to mechanism. J Trauma 50 (1) : 116-119.

Stöck B, Nogler M, Rosiek R, Fischer M, Krismer M, Kessler O. (2004) Navigation Improves Accuracy of Rotational Alignment in Total Knee Arthroplasty Clin Orthop Relat Res (426) : 180-186.

Sun J, Liu Y, Yan S, Cao G, Wang S, Lester DK, Zhang K, (2017) Clinical gait evaluation of patients with knee osteoarthritis. Gait Posture. 58 : 319-324

Swanik CB, Lephart SM, Rubash HE. (2004) Proprioception, kinesthesia, and balance after total knee arthroplasty with cruciate-retaining and posterior stabilized prosthesis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 86 (2): 328-334.

Szirmai I.(ed). Neurológia 4. kiadás Medicina 2017

Tawy GF, Rowe P, Biant L. (2018) Gait variability and motor control in patients with knee osteoarthritis as measured by the uncontrolled manifold technique. Gait Posture. 59 : 272-277.

Yakhdani HRF, Abbasi-Bafghi H, Meijer OG, Bruijn SM, van den Dikkenberg N, Stibbe AB, van Royen BJ., van Dieën JH. (2010) Stability and variability of Knee Kinematics during gait in knee OA before and after replacement surgery Clinbiomech, 25 (3) 230-236.

Yuan FZ, Wang SJ, Zhou ZX, Yu JK, Jiang D. ⁽²⁰¹⁷⁾ Malalignment and Malposition of Quadriceps-Sparing Approach in Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis J Orthop Surg Res 12 (1), 129

Vandervoort AA (2002) Aging of the human neuromuscular system. Muscle Nerve. 25 (1): 17-25. Review.

Vereeck L, Wuyts F, Truijen S, Van de Heyning P (2008) Clinical assessment of balance: normative data, and gender and age effects.. Int J Audiol. 47 (2) : 67-75.

Walsh M, Woodhouse LJ, Thomas SG, Finch E. (1998) Physical impairments and functional limitations: a comparison of individuals 1 year after total knee arthroplasty with control subjects. Phys Ther, 78: 248–258

Winter DA, Patla AE, Frank JS, Walt SE. (1990) Biomechanical walking pattern changes in the fit and healthy elderly. Phys Ther. 70 (6) : 340-347.

Winter DA. (1995) Human balance and posture control during standing and walking. Gait and Posture: Vol. 3: 193-214.

Wohlrab D, Zeh A, Mendel T, Hein W. (2009) Quadsparing Approach in Total Knee Arthroplasty. Oper Orthop Traumatol 21 (1), 25-34.

63

Wong AM, Y C Lin YC, Chou SW, Tang FT, Wong PY. (2001) Coordination Exercise and Postural Stability in Elderly People: Effect of Tai Chi Chuan. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 82 (5) : 608-612.

Wu Y, Zeng Y, Bao X, Xiong H, Hu Q, Li M, Shen B. (2018) Comparison of the minimally invasive and standard medial parapatellar approaches for total knee arthroplasty: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Surg, 57, 15-21,

Zhang HH, Yan SH, Fang C, Guo XY, Zhang K. (2016) Clinical Evaluation and Gait Characteristics before and after Total Knee Arthroplasty Based on a Portable Gait Analyzer. Orthop Surg 8 (3) : 360-366.

8. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS

8.1. PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE THESIS

- Nagymate, G., Pethes, A., Szabo, G., Bejek, Z., Paroczai, R., & Kiss, R. M. (2016). The impact of the severity of knee osteoarthritis on the postural stability. MATERIALS TODAY: PROCEEDINGS, 3 (4), 1069–1073. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2016.03.050</u>
- Pethes, Á., Szabó, G., & Kiss, R. M. (2016). Bilaterális nagyfokú térdízületi artrózis hatása a hirtelen irányváltoztatás utáni egyensúlyozó képességre. BIOMECHANICA HUNGARICA, 9 (1), 51–58. <u>http://doi.org/10.17489/biohun/2016/1/02</u>
- Pethes, Á., Bejek, Z., & Kiss, RM. (2015). The effect of knee arthroplasty on balancing ability in response to sudden unidirectional perturbation in the early postoperative period. JOURNAL OF ELECTROMYOGRAPHY AND KINESIOLOGY, 25 (3), 508–514. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.02.010</u> IF: 2,368
- Pethes, A., Kiss, RM., & Szendrői, M. (2014). Variability of gait in the early postoperative period of total knee arthroplasty with different surgical technique. INTERNATIONAL ORTHOPAEDICS, 38 (3), 517–523. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-013-2115-y</u> IF: 3,075
- Pethes, Á., Szabó, G., & Kiss, RM. (2014). Effect of bilateral, severe knee osteoarthritis on balancing ability after sudden unidirectional perturbation. In Proceedings of the 11th IASTED International Conference on Biomedical Engineering (pp. 100–104). <u>http://doi.org/10.2316/P.2014.818-010</u>
- 6. Pethes, Á., & Kiss, R. M. (2012b). A térdízületi protézis hatása a hirtelen irányváltoztatás utáni egyensúlyozó képességre korai posztoperatív időszakban.
 BIOMECHANICA HUNGARICA, 5(1), 44–52. http://doi.org/10.17489/biohun/2012/1/06
- Pethes, Á., & Kiss, R. M. (2012a). 12.2. A térdízületi endoprotézis beültetés feltárási módjának hatása a dinamikus egyensúlyozó képességre a posztoperatív időszak első három hónapjában. In Biomechanikai modellezés: Monográfia (pp. 216–224).

- Pethes, Á., Kiss, R. M., & Kovács, N. (2011). A térdízületi protézis hatása a járás változékonyságára a korai posztoperatív szakaszban különböző feltárások esetén. BIOMECHANICA HUNGARICA, 4(2), 36–46. http://doi.org/10.17489/biohun/2011/2/04
- Pethes, Á., Bejek, Z., Lakatos, T., & Kiss, R. (2010). Térdprotézis beültetés után a járás egyes kinematikai paramétereiben bekövetkező korai változások vizsgálata. MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 53 (1), 55–65.
- Pethes, Á., & Kiss, R. M. (2010). Válogatott műkorcsolyázók kinesztéziai paraméterei jobbak-e a hasonló életkorú kontroll csoportnál? SPORTORVOSI SZEMLE, 51 (1), 11–16.

8.2. OTHER PUBLICATIONS

- Barabás, K., Zeitler, Z., Bakos, J., Bálint, G., Pethes, Á., Nagy, E., ... Szekanecz,
 Z. (2012). Lézerkezelés hatása a citoszolfehérjék kifejeződésére osteoarthritises
 synoviumban. IMMUNOLÓGIAI SZEMLE, 4 (1), 16–24.
- 2 Balint, G., Barabas, K., Zeitler, Z., Bakos, J., Kekesi, K., Pethes, A., ... Szekanecz, Z. (2011). Ex vivo soft-laser treatment inhibits the synovial expression of vimentin and alpha-enolase, potential autoantigens in rheumatoid arthritis. PHYSICAL THERAPY, 91 (5), 665–674. <u>http://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20100065</u> IF: 3,113
- Bálint, G., Barabás, K., Zeitler, Z., Bakos, J., Pethes, Á., Nagy, E., ... Gáspár,
 L. (2009). Lézerkezelés hatása a citoszolfehérjék expressziójára rheumatoid
 arthritises synoviumban. IMMUNOLÓGIAI SZEMLE, 1 (1–2), 21–27.
- 4 Pethes, Á., Szita, J., & Renner, A. (2001). Stabil tomportáji törések ellátása DHS-csavarozással, különös tekintettel a kétlyukas toldalék alkalmazására. MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 44 (4), 266–268.
- 5 Pethes, Á., Vendégh, Z., Wolf, K., Farkas, T., & Hamar, J. (1999). Szöveti véráramlási reakciók vizsgálata a femur és a tibia csontvelőben kísérleti állatokon. MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 42 (Suppl. 1.), 148–151.

- 6 Pethes, Á., Wolf, K., Józan, J., & Hamar, J. (1999). A csontvelő véráramlásának detektálása és értékelése lézer-Doppler mérőműszerrel nyúl femuron és tibián vazokatív szerek hatására. MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 42(5), 303–310.
- Vendégh, Z., Wolf, K., Pethes, Á., Farkas, T., & Hamar, J. (1999). Vasoactiv anyagok és neuropeptidek hatása a képződő callus microcirculatiojára.
 MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 42 (Suppl. 1.), 157–158.
- 8 Pethes, Á., Szabó, C., Takács, E., & Salacz, T. (1997). A térd ultrahangos és artroszkópos vizsgálatának összehasonlítása a meniscussérülések felismerésében. MAGYAR TRAUMATOLÓGIA ORTOPÉDIA KÉZSEBÉSZET PLASZTIKAI SEBÉSZET, 40 (3), 199–203.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My deep gratitude goes first to Professor Rita M Kiss, who expertly guided me through my scientific research work. Her unwavering enthusiasm for biomechanics kept me constantly engaged with my research. Her generosity helped my time in the Lab enjoyable. I would like to thank Professor Miklós Szendrői for his keen interest shown to complete my thesis successfully. He invited me into his scientific group, encouraged and mentored at every step towards my degree. My appreciation also extends to my colleague Dr. Zoltán Bejek who performed all the operations with minimally invasive approaches and supported with his valuable advises throughout my work. Thanks also go to Dr. Katalin Köllő who helped me to classify the radiographs. I experienced a genuine kindness and helpfulness without exception from all colleagues at the Semmelweis University Department of Ortopedic Surgery. I would like to thank the patients who voluntary took part in the time consuming extra controls without providing them any benefit. Without their cooperation I would not have been able to carry out the research needed to complete the thesis. I am extremely grateful to my wife for her love and continuing support to finish my work. Also I express my thanks to my children who missed their father when doing extra work for the degree.